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From everything three things remained:
The certainty that we are beginning 

The certainty that it is necessary to continue 
The certainty that we can be interrupted 

before we finish. 
Let´s turn the interruption into a new path 

the fall into a dance step  
the fear into a stair 

the dream into a bridge 
the search into an encounter

Morro do Pilar - Minas Gerais - Brasil

“ 

“

“

Fernando Sabino
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HOW TO READ THIS REPORT 

Manabi believes that the transparency of our activities and of information is a basic 
assumption for sustainable development. Here, we introduce what we have developed in 
the period from March 2011 to September 2012. 

In the first part, you will find Manabi's essence. Our messages, the Mission, 
the Vision, the Values, the concepts of social and environmental responsibility, and the 
adherence to the Global Pact show how committed we are with the fulfillment of our goals 
and the development of productive and market good practices. 

In this session you will know a little more about the projects, productive 
processes and technologies, designed and developed from our efforts and studies, always 
aiming to achieving the best results, even before the beginning of the operational stage.

 Here you will have access to important data about the corporate 
profile and the company's financial performance, strategically planned and developed to 
reach our goals and achieve financial return with safety and liability. 

 A frank and open dialog is one of the most important 
characteristics in the way Manabi acts together with the stakeholders. The way we relate 
with the communities and governments involved in our projects, and also the responsible 
form as we work with the press and the society are shared in this topic.  

 Another important factor in Manabi's activities is the attention and 
care demanded in the environmental process. Our environment policy, the procedures 
related to the environmental licenses for the enterprises, and our environmental 
performance are explained in this section. 

In case you need further information, our e-mail for contact is: comunicacao@manabi.com 

We hope that all the information contained in this report is well organized and can be 
easily accessed.   

About Manabi - 

Our work – 

Responsible planning -

Transparency and dialog –

Preserving the future -
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Starting from zero is always a challenge, but for 
Manabi the beginning can mean great opportunities. 
We have the opportunity of becoming one of the 
most sustainable mining and logistics companies 
and we will, certainly, walk towards accomplishing 
our daring goal. 

The first step was to structure a project backed by 
consistent and financially safe mineral assets 
together with partners experienced and committed 
to the project in long term. 

Our goal is ambitious: to produce one of the best 
iron ore concentrated in the world, the Premium 
quality pellet feed, with iron content of about 
68,5%, complying with the most demanding 
social/environmental and market standards. Soon, 
that will become reality, 
thanks to Manabi's enormous 
effort and capacity of 
innovating, seeking 
technological options and 
breaking barriers

The commitment to the Global 
Pact, in December 2011, 
ratifies the company's seriousness and commitment 
to sustainability, which assumptions became a 
guide for every strategy and initiative of the 
company. We know that, both in strong and 
increasing demand and in times of crisis, even with 
oscillating market, socially fair and environmental 
responsible companies are conquering a greater 
share of the mining market. 

In order to reach this goal, we choose carefully each 
participant in our team. 
All of them were selected not just because of their 
high professional level, but also because they have 
characteristics irreplaceable for the culture that we 
want to create and perpetuate. They are 
professionals who are ready to think different, find 
solutions and overcome challenges. 

In 2011, we took important steps and conquered 
our first victories: the financial plan together with 

We understand that 
sustainable development 
is mining greatest added 
value. The activities not 
only can walk together, as 
well as should talk to 
each other, becoming 
complementary. 

the strategic partners that believed in our 
projects, the purchase of the assets – Morro do 
Pilar and Morro Escuro -, as well as the definition 
of the Master Plan and the advanced technologies 
that we will employ in our mining and logistics 
projects. 

In 2012, the work kept advancing and we expect 
to maintain the same rhythm in 2013 and in the 
following years, taking the company to an 
operational phase. The dialog activities with the 
stakeholders, the process of study for the 
environmental licenses obtainment and the 
projects structuring and implantation keep going 
in a strong pace. 

We rely on stockholders' increasing 
support. With the advances already 
accomplished, the investors keep 
confident about our commitment and 
the achievement of the intended 
results, and they thus enabled the 
increase of the company´s social 
capital in more than 300 million 
dolars, through a successful process of 
private funding accomplished in 
September 2012. 

And, thus, always acting together with 
the stakeholders and having the 
assumptions of sustainable 
development as essential guidelines, 
we continue making an effort to 
overcome the challenges that would 
come and to harvest the fruits of our 
work and determination. Right from 

the start of this long and promising journey, I 
state here my enormous gratitude for everybody 
who contributed with our first conquests and, 
because of that, became part of Manabi's history. 
Without the support from the investors and 
stockholders, the communities involved in the 
projects, the members of the public authority of 
the municipal districts and states in which we 
perform, and also of each member of our team, 
nothing would have been possible. We have the 
certainty that we will continue stronger in this 
purpose of building a sustainable mining project 
together. 

Message from the CEO 

Ricardo Antunes
Chief Executive Officer
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About Manabi



Manabi is a mining and logistics company, which 
arrives to the global market aligned with the main 

commitments and assumptions for sustainable 
development. Produce high quality iron ore, 

provide a new logistics option for Brazil and add 
value to the stockholders and assuming, at the 

same time, the commitment of contributing to the 
social/economic development and environmental 
preservation in the regions in which the company 

performs is a motivating challenge. Not only due to 
the size of the liabilities, but mostly to the 

greatness of the conquests. 

The seriousness, the commitment and the respect practiced in all processes and activities developed are, for 
Manabi, indispensable ingredients in the conquest of determination and success, and because of this, these 
predicates are contained in our fundamental assumptions. The mission, vision, values and corporate social 
liability are the company´s goals and guiding parameters which, at the same time, impel individually each 
professional who is part of it, contributing for building a better company and society

Mission, Vision and Values  

Corporate Social Liability, Sustainability and Ethic are in Manabi's DNA. These guidelines are incorporated 
since the project conception and were referenced in the company´s mission, vision and values. 

MISSION 

Develop, implant and operate assets in the mining 
industry, in order to generate wealth, contribute for the 
social/economic and environmental development of the 
territories in which it performs and to ensure return to 
the stockholders.

VISION

Be an innovative and sustainable mining and 
logistics company, recognized in the global 
market as one of the greatest companies in the 
sector. 

VALUES 

Innovation and Entrepreneurship – perform to create value shared with the stakeholders. 

Sustainability – contribute for the company´s sustainable growth and the social/economic and environmental 
development of the territories where we perform. 

Assertiveness – develop and manage business with agility and liability, focused on excellence and results. 

Health and Safety – prioritize safety and life quality in the working environment.  

Ethic and Transparency – principles that govern our behavior and address our relationship with the 
stakeholders.  

People – promote a healthy, fair and diverse environment. 

8
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Manabi starts being already committed to sustainability in our activities, and because of this, always seeks to 
optimize the positive impacts of our business without measuring efforts in order to minimize inherent 
negative effects of any business implantation. The sustainability policy developed aims to reach the balance 
among economic, social and environmental levels of all the company´s operations. The company´s adherence 
to the Global Pact and the elaboration of the Sustainability Annual Report aligned with the Global Report 
Initiative (GRI) assumptions,  established since the first year of the company´s performance are the main 
dialog and transparency channels with the society.  

Sustainability for Manabi  

SUSTAINABILITY POLICY 

Manabi is born aligned with the best practices and 
having sustainable development as a business 
assumption, through a responsible performance and 
transparent dialog with all the interested parties. 

The company is committed to develop our business in 
a responsible, planned and structured way, considering 
the economic, social/environmental and cultural issues 
related to the business and the performance area. 

In an effective and practical form, the principles of 
corporate liability and sustainability have been 
present since the conception of the projects, in order 
to ensure that those projects are economically viable, 
socially fair, environmentally correct and culturally 
diverse. The company's practices and speech are based 
on true and ethical values and commitments.  

One of Manabi´s assumptions is to add value to the 
stockholders, as well as to the interested parties, 
contributing for the development of the territories in 
accordance to the parties, by means of a clear dialog 
and shared liabilities.  

9
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ALIGNMENT TO THE GLOBAL PACT 

The Company takes over the liability of preparing and improving itself to meet the most rigorous concepts and 
agreements related to best managerial practices related to sustainable development. 
Still performing in pre-operational phase, the company searches to build the structures and develop our activities 
based on the assumptions of the Global Pact, which Manabi has undersigned in December 2011. 

GLOBAL PACT 

The adhesion to the Global Pact was a company´s natural step of alignment to the guidelines implemented by the 
United Nations (UN) with the goal of encouraging the principles related to human rights, working relations, the 
environment preservation, and the combat to the corruption practices all over the world. 
Besides supporting the initiative, Manabi´s fundamental guidelines are in accordance with the conduct established 
by the Global Pact. 

Respect 
and support 
the human 
rights recognized 
internationally 
in its influence area 

Assure 
the non-participation 
of the company 
in any human 
rights  violation 

Support 
freedom 
of association and 
recognize the right 
to collective 

Eliminate 
all forms of 
forced or 
compulsory 
work  

Take over 
a preventive, 
responsible, 
and proactive 
approach for the 
environmental 
challenges 

 
Effectively eradicate 
all forms of 
infantile work 
of our production 
chain 

Stimulate 
practices that 
eliminate any 
type of 
discrimination 
in the work 
environment 

Develop 
initiatives and 
practices aiming 
to promote and 
disseminate social/
environmental 
responsibility

Encourage 
the development 
and diffusion of 
environmental 
responsible 
technologies

Fight 
all forms of
corruption, 
including 
extortion 
and bribe 

2 3
4

5 6
7

8
9 10

1
THE TEN PRINCIPLES OF THE GLOBAL PACT 
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Corporate Profile 

Manabi is result of effort and planning of Brazilian entrepreneurs with wide experience in the mining and 
logistics market, which became a significantly attractive investment option for the world finance market. 

Founded in March 10th, 2011, in September of the same year the company was granted the certification as 
an open capital company by the “Comissão de Valores Mobiliários (Securities Commission). 

ORGANIZACIONAL STRUCTURE  

20%
Ontário 
Teachers 
Pension Plan

19,125%
Fábrica 
Holdings

12,5%
Korea 
Investment 
Corporation

11,375%
Longleaf 
Partners 
International

7,625%
Michael 
Stephen 
Vitton

7%
Mathew
Todd
Goldsmith

21,65%

Others

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND ADMINISTRATIVE BOARD 

Formed by entrepreneurs that identified potentialities and sought strategic partners, Manabi´s Board of 
Directors and Administrative Board work to develop and run projects that have as goal to add value to the 
stockholders and promote the economic development of the country, always respecting environment needs 
and the interests of the locals communities and other publics the company relates to. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORSADMINISTRATIVE BOARD 

Ricardo Antunes

Joaquim Martino

José Tadeu de Moraes

Antônio Castello Branco

Ricardo Abramof

Augusto Tannure

John Sheedy

Inês Souza

Marcos de Campos Ludwig

Michael S. Vitton

Mathew Goldsmith

Charles Putz

Chief Executive Officer

Chief Technical Officer

Chief Operating Officer

Chief Financial Officer

Chief Commercial Officer

Manabi Logística Business Development Officer

Chairman
Ricardo Antunes
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OPERATIONAL STRUCTURE 

In June 2010, the Company acquired Morro do Pilar Minerais and Morro Escuro Minerais assets for R$ 491,4 
million and R$ 55,4 million, respectively. The iron ore reserves are located in the Morro do Pilar and Santa 
Maria de Itabira municipal districts, in a region contiguous to the “Quadrilátero Ferrifero”. 
In pre-operational phase, already in 2012, the activities developed were linked to the projects structuring, 
mineral prospecting, and formation of the basic team and structuring of the environmental studies for the 
obtainment of the demanded environmental licenses. 
 
In the following years, besides the development of mineral extraction projects in the state of Minas Gerais , 
the implantation of a Pipeline (for carrying minerals) and a harbor is foreseen, which will be built by means 
of the Manabi Logistics subsidiary in the Linhares municipal district, in the Northern region of the state of 
Espírito Santo.  

The integrated enterprise should generate about 2.500 direct and 4.000 indirect jobs. The vacancies will be 
fulfilled, preferentially, by local work force in all areas where the company will perform. In order to do so, all 
the necessary infrastructure will be implanted for offering specific courses and training.  

Morro do Pilar 
Minerais S.A.

Morro Escuro 
Minerais S.A.

Manabi 
Logística S.A.

Morro do Pilar - MG Linhares - ESSanta Maria de Itabira - MG
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Manabi has already prepared the construction of policies that will guide the projects, strategies and the 
company behavior, as the Code of Conduct and assumptions of the management of business conduct, ethics 
and transparency in business, risk and image and reputation management.

Manabi´s ombudsman, a direct communication channel with stakeholders, was one of the first tools 
developed and has now been released to our audiences (internal and external), which may have access to the 
company through the email address .ouvidoria@manabi.com

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

CODE OF CONDUCT

Manabi´s Code of Conduct aims to validate the adoption of good corporate practices and ethical conduct in 
business and professional relationships, listing rights and duties and guiding actions to society, employees, 
suppliers and institutions. It aims to elucidate rules and ethical principles, as well as to identify behaviors 
that are considered non-appropriate and suppress attitudes classified as abusive.
It is also a purpose of the document to encourage the practice of actions that contribute to the creation and 
maintenance of the company´s reputation and organizational culture. All employees and contractors were 
given the Code of Conduct and have been properly trained; the content covers all the principles of the Global 
Pact. In the end of this document, you will have access to the full content.

14
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Our Sector



Create an integrated mining and logistics complex to produce premium quality iron ore and export the 
production to the commodities world market is Manabi´s goal. Born in a period when the use of technology 
in production processes and management has become an important competitive advantage, the company 
invests in research development and application of innovation to achieve our goals.

CURRENT SCENARIO AND PROSPECTS FOR THE FUTURE OF MINING

Iron ore mining in Brazil was consolidated through the ages as one of the most successful activities of the mining 
industry and also the country´s economy.

MAJOR MINERALS EXPORTED IN RECENT YEARS

Exports:% exported

SOURCE: Brazilian Mining Institute
http://www.ibram.org.br/sites/1300/1382/00001667.pdf
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The activity of mining iron ore composes one of the most 
significant axes of the basic industry worldwide. The basic 
industry, as its name implies, fundaments the pillars to the other 
productive chains through the supply of raw materials and inputs 
essential to humanity.

Because it is a material of great flexibility, the iron ore can be 
worked in several ways, giving rise to an infinite range of 
products. Mankind´s daily use of iron ore is historical and there is 
evidence of its application dating back to the XII century BC in the 
East and VIII century in Central Europe, periods known as "Iron 
Age." The evolution of the use of iron ore became even more 
significant after the Industrial Revolution, which began in Britain 
in the late eighteenth century. The material has been used on a 
large scale in the steel industry as a feedstock in the production 
of steel. Currently, iron ore is present in people's lives in such a 
way that it is impossible to separate it from day to day.

From iron ore, which later turns into steel, are manufactured all 
kinds of machinery, vehicles, buildings, structures for heavy and 
civil construction, furniture, housewares, tools, appliances, 
electronics and other miscellaneous goods

THE IRON ORE AND ITS APPLICATIONS

17
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Our Project



All projects, from their production processes to the arrival of the final product, were designed by Manabi to be 
developed in an integrated manner. Through the extensive use of technology and innovation designed for every 
stage of our operations, the company seeks to maximize results while minimizing impacts and optimizing 
productivity and resources in pursuit of growth and performance improvements, always aligned with the most 
severe parameters of sustainable development.

The Company has approximately 78 mining rights, of which 65 rights for exploitation of iron ore, destined to 
implement the Morro do Pilar project, located in the region adjacent to the “Quadrilatero Ferrífero”.
From a resource potential of 1.621 million tons, 1.216 have been certified according to the Joint Ore Reserves 
Committee (JORC) system.

PROJECTS, PRODUCTION PROCESS, TECHNOLOGY AND PRODUCTS

78 contiguous mineral 
rights in the 

“Quadrilatero Ferrífero” 
region belong to Manabi

1.216 million 
tons of ore already 

certified by the 
international 
JORC system.

INTEGRATED PROJECTS

Manabi aims the implementation of three distinct projects, designed in an integrated way, including two iron ore 
mines and a logistics modal. The mining assets, called Morro do Pilar and Morro Escuro are located in the cities of 
Morro do Pilar and Santa Maria de Itabira, Minas Gerais. As Porto Norte Capixaba, which will be used for the 
distribution of production and also for the export of other products (multiple loads port), will be built in the city of 
Linhares, north shore of the state of Espírito Santo. Initial investments total approximately $ 4.1 billion.

19
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Nossa Senhora do Pilar Church - Morro do Pilar



Ore with iron content between 30 and 40% “in situ” will enable Manabi to produce a Pellet Feed Premium, 
with about 68.5% of iron content, due to its characteristic of low level of impurity, placing the product among 
the best in the world

MORRO DO PILAR

Manabi will build, in Morro do Pilar, a plant for iron ore extraction with annual production capacity of 25 million 
tons. The goal is to ensure the maximum utilization of the ore with the minimum environmental impact. In order 
to reach this goal, the designed structures will rely on the best technologies already developed for the activity. 

An example is the processing unit, which will work with biodegradable reagents and the waste disposal will be 
run by means of the drained stacking advanced technology. The technique has proven to be safer than the use 
of waste embankments, minimizing risks. Moreover, it allows the optimization of water use, with recirculation 
up to 80% of the water. 

The first step for the concession of the necessary environmental licenses has already been taken. Consistent 
studies were developed for the formalization of the Environmental Impact Studies. Another important point is 
the granting of water grant for the project development, conceded by the “Instituto Mineiro de Gestão de Água 
– IGAM (Water Management Institute), after studies and assessments.

 WORLD CLASS PELET FEED 

Crude ore with iron content 
of about 30% in situ with 
little contamination 
(sand and silica)

Advanced techniques
and processing 
equipment 

Final product 
with iron content 
of 68,5% + =

25 million tons is the total production capacity of Morro do Pilar Project 
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Santa Maria de Itabira - MG



MORRO ESCURO

The Morro Escuro operation is located approximately 40 Km from Morro do Pilar, in the municipal district of Santa 
Maria de Itabira, MG, and its iron ore is similar to the one found in Morro do Pilar. This project in the beginning will 
be destined to the domestic market, with estimate annual production of 6 million tons. 

Manabi is already working on the studies needed for the environmental and engineering licensing, for the 
definition of the best technological, environmental and social options to be applied in the project´s development. 

23
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Linhares - ES



Created to meet the transportation demands of the iron ore produced in Morro do Pilar, Manabi S.A. Logistics 
understands that the environmental social impacts resulting from the implantation of the structures necessary for 
the production distribution are as fundamental as the economic viability of the chosen logistics solutions. 
Therefore, all the currently existing options in Brazil for iron ore transportation– highways, railroads and pipelines – 
were assessed according to these concepts. 

MANABI LOGISTICS

Pipeline 

After several studies and analyses, it was verified that the pipeline, which 
has technology successfully used in the country for more than 35 years, is 
one of the best logistics options, both from an economic, environmental and 
social point of view. 

The pipeline will have 530 kilometers of extension and will connect Morro 
do Pilar (MG) to  Linhares (ES), where the Porto Norte Capixaba (Port) will be 
built, passing through 23 municipal districts. 

The structure is designed to support the production during all the plant´s 
useful life; the piping will have a diameter of 26 inches and will rely on two 
pumping stations. In the state of Espírito Santo, two valve stations will be 
installed for controlling the speed of the pulp transportation. 

Besides a pipeline of 530 km, a mixed logistics option which integrates 
pipeline and railroad is also being assessed. 

25
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Reinforcing the enterprising spirit, through which it was created, Manabi sees, with the construction of a new port 
in the coast of the state of Espirito Santo, a new array for the development of the State´s and the country´s 
economies. 

The creation of the terminal in Linhares, in the north coast of the state of Espírito Santo, meets the Brazilian need 
for infrastructure projects, which could be able to absorb export and import more and more robust demands, due 
to the economy growth, bringing benefits to the country´s industrial sector, assisting in the reduction of the 
logistics costs and, therefore, increasing the competitiveness levels of the segment. 

In accordance with the goals and needs of the states of Minas Gerais and Espírito Santo, Manabi enlarged the port´s 
original project. Initially designed for the exclusive export of iron ore, the Porto Norte Capixaba will become a 
multiple loads modal, having its operation divided into two phases. The first phase will be destined to the export of 
the Morro do Pilar iron ore production, as an anchor load, and, afterwards, other bulk materials could be distributed 
by the terminal. 

Manabi owns an area of about 1.200 hectares for the port construction, which will be implanted using technologies 
that privilege the integration with the area of the region, the environment preservation and the relationship with 
the interested parties. 

Porto Norte Capixaba

The area destined to the construction of the Porto Norte Capixaba 
is of about 1.200 hectares 
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Responsible 
Planning 



The responsibility in the business, assets, investments, and capital planning and administration, is what governs all 
Manabi's activities, strategies and actions. The company already relies on an important and selected investor's 
team, without which the projects would not have turned into reality. A healthy economic-financial performance 
adds value and keeps a reliable virtuous cycle between the Company and the other audiences which are interested 
and involved in the initiatives and projects

ECONOMIC - FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 

Manabi S.A. was created in March 10th, 2011. In June of the same year, the Company accomplished its first 
financial funding, in the amount of US$ 550 million, in a private offer, which gathered great institutional investors 
as Ontario Teachers´ Pension Plan, Korea Investment Corporation, Southeastern Asset Management and other 
investment funds. Manabi is an open capital company with listed but not yet negotiated stocks. 

The presentation of the company´s financial statements, even during our pre-operational phase and, therefore, 
without operational revenue, aims to ratify Manabi's commitment with ethics, and the information transparency 
and accessibility. 

As an open capital company, Manabi adopts the practice of accomplishing audits regularly, following the 
most severe parameters, requirements and processes demanded internationally, with the goal of 
perpetuating the transparent, ethical, respectful and committed relationships with our investors and other 
interested parties. 

The financial statements of 2011 and up to the penultimate quarter of 2012 are available in an attachment 
found at the end of this report. 

EXTERNAL AUDIT 
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Transparency 
and dialog 



Dialog is the shortest and safest path for learning and respect is the key for a harmonious relationship. Manabi 
seeks the creation of an environment governed by a frank and democratic dialog, where the company and all the 
interested parties can express themselves and teach, listen and learn, in order to become protagonists in the 
construction of a better society. 

Social Development 

The company structures projects integrated to the regions where we perform in order to contribute for the 
social/economic, environmental and cultural development. From the conception, we established a clear and 
transparent dialog with the interested parties, seeking to build a lasting relationship in the cities where we own 
enterprises.  
The communication and relationship management with the interested parties is based on diagnoses and mapping 
of the interested parties, conceived for all the projects, in a way of knowing and establishing a structured 
relationship with the communities in the projects´ influential areas and their formal and informal leaderships. 

RELATIONSHIP WITH THE INTERESTED PARTIES 

Communities

The Social Communication Program articulates with the 
institutional, social/economic, and other programs 
nominated in the company´s Environmental Impact 
Studies (EIS), integrating them to the technical aspects, 
specific chronograms for both the internal and external 
audiences, considering the four main stages of the 
enterprise: planning, installation, operation and 
shutdown. 

Together with the interested parties, initially, the set of 
processes and activities has considered as a priority the 
clearing of questions about the enterprise and their 
implications for communities' everyday life. All the 
stages should be accompanied by communication and 
dialog continuous actions, establishing channels of 
permanent dialogue with all the interested audiences, 
clarifying doubts and assessing counterclaims, in order 
to meet them when it is pertinent. 

Transparency and Dialog 

In order to do so, Manabi has already implemented a 
Social Dialog Program. Manabi keeps an open dialog with 
the communities by means of systematic meetings 
accomplished according to the project status. About 30 
collective meetings, besides meetings with specific 
leaders and organizations about all the projects have 
been accomplished so far, involving approximately 1500 
people from the Morro do Pilar and Morro Escuro regions. 

Manabi adopted as a standard practice the 
accomplishment of encounters and meetings previous to 
the public hearings, in a way of aligning the population 
and empower them for a more balanced participation of 
all the actors.  

That intense dialog process happens both in Minas Gerais 
as in Espírito Santo, where all the interested parties are 
involved, to know the company´s projects for the region 
(mine, pipeline and port). 

Public administration of Santa Maria de Itabira/MG  

 Santa Maria de Itabira community

Lapinha community – Morro do Pilar/MG 
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1st Public Meeting of Morro do Pilar/MG 

Carioca community – Morro do Pilar/MG 

Santo Antônio do Rio Abaixo/MG Santa Maria de Itabira/MG

Marco Túlio Ferreira -
Adm. and Supplies 
General Manager

Representatives of AMA Lapinha, a local NGO 



Reaffirming Manabi´s commitment with 
sustainable development, in August 
2012 the company created a 
Sustainability Committee, formed by 
representatives of the board of directors, 
technical staff and external experts 
invited. 

The committee has the goal of acting, in 
an articulate way, with the company´s 
several areas in order to reach and 
optimize the goals and actions defined 
by the company regarding the 
implantation of their projects in a 
sustainable way. 

The committee has the attribution to 
contribute, promote and implement the 
best practices, by means of the 
development of awareness programs 
destined to both the internal and 
external audiences, well-structured projects, 
identification of new opportunities and 
refinement of already existing actions, with 
the goal of operating a sustainable mining 
project. 

Committee structure 

SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE  

 Committee´s first meeting, August 2012 
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Deliberative

Executive
Advisory 

Ø External experts invited 

Projects 

Morro do PilarMorro Escuro Pipeline

Communication 
and Institutional 
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Ø
Ø
Ø

Ø

Adm. and Supplies G. Manager 
Pre-operational G. Manager
Comm. and Institutional 
Relationships Manager 
Environment Manager
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Operation Executive 
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Transparency and care about 
the people are assumptions also 
followed within the company, 
and are present in the everyday 
relationship with the 
employees. 
The purpose of this is 
maintaining a harmonious, 
integrated and productive 
working environment, allowing 
for cultural diversity and the 
development of potentialities 
and professional talents. In this 
environment, among others, is 
the Health and Safety policy. 
Along the period, all the 
employees and contractors 
were given training about 
Manabi's and market policies. 

INTERNAL AND SUBCONTRACTED AUDIENCES 

Health and Safety Policy 

Through our Health and Safety Policy, Manabi establishes a management and administration structure ruled by the 
continuous improvement principles and a protagonist performance in the sense of identifying, observing and 
assessing the dangers and risks existing in the working environment, so as to keep them within the limits 
considered as acceptable by the legislation and by the company. The guidelines are a company´s efficient 
instrument which, besides providing improvements in the employees' health and safety performance, has a 
fundamental role in the life quality increase and the construction of a harmonious corporate culture.  

Respect the legislation in force and establish training courses about the standardized procedures. 

Respect life and keep the strong commitment with the welfare of our employees, suppliers, clients and 
communities.  

Work safely so as to protect and promote people´s health and welfare, properly managing the risks and offering a 
safe and adequate working place. 

Conciliate the company´s decisions with excellence standards in Health and Safety. 

Keep communication channels open to employees and partners. 

First meeting with the whole Manabi´s staff
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Manabi´s Staff Profile 

By September 2012, Manabi´s employees and trainees were distributed as follows: 

Advisers Directors
General Managers

Managers Technicians/ Experts Trainees 

Genre/ Race - General 
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Men 6 MenWoman Women

Women WomenWomenMen Men Man

African descent Mixed Race Asian Caucasian Native American 
descent

WomenMen

8 Men 1 Woman
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Training Courses

By September 2012, the training courses for internal staff and contractors totalized 2.753 hours, according to the 
distribution shown in the picture below. 

Subject 

Corporate Alignment 

Environment 

Occupation Health 
and Safety

Technical 

TOTAL HOURS 

Internal employees Contractors 
Total

2011

Partic. Partic.Partic. Partic. Partic.Hours HoursHours Hours Hours

2011Jan to Sept/2012 Jan to Sept/2012

84 160 63

28

198

57

33

33

66

33

186

196

486

196

366

257

910

286- -

32 237 21 105 203 759 256 1101-

-

-

-58 368 75 83 134 4561 4

85 87 204 660 1524 1013 2753164 181 860

Training Course for contractors in Morro do Pilar 
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For the development of our 
projects, Manabi has been 
promoting dialogs with the local 
public administrators, both at 
the state and federal levels, 
aiming to introduce the 
company´s project, as well as to 
align it with the development 
strategies and policies of these 
municipal districts and States. 
There are about 33 relationship 
municipal districts from both 
the direct and indirect 
influential areas, for the 
implantation of the mine 
project, pipeline and port. 

PUBLIC AUTHORITY 

PRESS 

The company understands that the relationship with the press is essential for our activities, since it is the most 
comprehensive dialog channel with the Brazilian and international societies, to which Manabi has the commitment 
of providing clearings and information. 

Our goal is to narrow the bonds and keep a transparent relationship with the national and international media 
vehicles so that they can announce the information correctly and precisely, seeking to keep the commitment with 
the truth and the population, as well as to avoid the appearance of communication noises that could jeopardize 
Manabi's business. However, as we are a pre-operational company, these relationship demands are still relatively 
low. 

Signature of the Letter of Intent with the Government of the state of Espirito Santo 
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Preserving
the Future



Manabi's Environmental Management was 
developed and is constantly refined according to a 
set of rigorous goals, which involve the licensing 
processes of our projects. The goal is to mitigate 
and reduce the possible environmental impacts 
caused by our activities and, at the same time, 
foment, create and take part in initiatives and 
conducts that promote the understanding and the 
preservation of the natural resources. 

Environment Policy 

Manabi recognizes the natural resources as a 
present and future value, building a transparent 
relationship with the communities, public agents, 
employees, contractors and partners, based on the 
following principles: 

Act responsibly and in accordance with the 
environmental legislation; 

Be pro-active in the actions taken with the 
interested parties; 

Incorporate the environmental variable in all of the 
company´s decisions; 

Promote the continuous improvement of the 
environmental performance of our processes; 

Act in a preventive way in order to ensure the best 
environmental performance in the company´s 
activities; 

Environment licensing

As part of Manabi's strategy, during 2011 and the first semester of 2012 emphasis was given to perform a 
social/environmental survey on the region where the mining assets are and to elaborate a logistic project, for the 
structuring of the Environmental Impact Studies of all of our projects.  

The first study registered by the competent regulator organ was the one of Morro do Pilar, in March 2012. The 
studies of the other projects of Morro Escuro, Port and Pipeline are being concluded and the expectation is to 
finish them in the beginning of 2013. 
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The long term strategic planning defines Manabi as a company that bets on future. And the future of the society, the 
economy, the planet and also the company´s activities is intimately linked to the development of a sustainable 
mining project. Therefore, reduce impacts, find and adopt sustainable options, promote and invest in research and 
initiatives for the environmental preservation are also essential goals and commitments for the company,  stated 
from the very beginning. 

PRESERVING THE FUTURE 

Environmental Management 
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ABOUT THE REPORT 

Methodology Used 

During our first year of activities, Manabi chose to perform periodic meetings with the internal audience and 
interested parties, so as to identify the most important and significant subjects for the elaboration of this and other 
reports. 

Since we have only one year of existence and we rely on a lean staff, in this first moment, it was not possible to 
formally apply the materiality methodology. However, the subjects were extensively discussed by the managers of 
all the company areas in consonance with the dialogs promoted with the communities in our performance territory

Staff
Executive Management 
José Tadeu de Moraes 

Management and Supplies General Management  
Marco Túlio M. Ferreira 

Communication and Institutional Relations Management
Rosângela Ferreira 

Coordination / Edition: Rosângela Ferreira 
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Centro Empresarial Botafogo 
Praia de Botafogo, 370 
8º Andar - Botafogo 
22250-040-040 – Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brasil 
 
 
Tel:  (5521) 3263-7000 
Fax: (5521) 3263-7004 
www.ey.com.br 


A free translation of the financial statements from Portuguese into English 
 


Independent auditor’s report on the financial statements  
 
 
The Shareholders, Board of Directors and Officers 
Manabi Holding S.A. 
Rio de Janeiro - RJ 
 
We have audited the accompanying individual and consolidated financial statements of 
Manabi Holding S.A., identified as Parent company and Consolidated, respectively, which 
comprise the balance sheet as at December 31, 2011, and the related statements of 
income, of changes in equity and cash flows for the period from March 10, 2011 (date of 
the Company’s incorporation) through December 31, 2011, and a summary of the 
significant accounting practices and other explanatory information. 
 
Management's responsibility for the financial statements  
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the individual 
financial statements in accordance with the accounting practices adopted in Brazil, and of 
the consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), and in 
conformity with the accounting practices adopted in Brazil, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of  financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor's responsibility  
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Brazilian and International Standards on 
Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether these financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the Company's preparation and fair presentation of 
the Company’s financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting practices used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 



http://www.ey.com.br
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Opinion on the individual financial statements  
 
In our opinion, the individual financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of Manabi Holding S.A. as at December 31, 2011, 
and its financial performance and its cash flows for the period from March 10, 2011 (date 
of Company’s incorporation) through December 31, 2011, in accordance with the 
accounting practices adopted in Brazil.  
 
Opinion on the consolidated financial statements  
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all 
material respects, the consolidated financial position of Manabi Holding S.A. as at 
December 31, 2011, and its consolidated financial performance and consolidated cash 
flows for the period from March 10, 2011 (date of the Company’s incorporation) through 
December 31, 2011 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the accounting 
practices adopted in Brazil. 
 
Emphasis of a matter  
 
As mentioned in Note 1, the Company and its subsidiaries will continue to develop its mining 
resources and the investments required for the execution of its business plan are significant. 
Currently, the Company does not have cash generating activities and does not have 
sufficient resources to fund the planned investments. Therefore, the Company will depend 
on funds from its shareholders or third parties for the execution of its business plan. 
 
As mentioned in Note 2, the individual financial statements were prepared in accordance 
with the accounting practices adopted in Brazil. In the case of Manabi Holding S.A., these 
practices differ from IFRS - applicable to the separate financial statements - solely with 
respect to the measurement of investments in subsidiaries, under the equity method, while 
such investments would be measured at cost or fair value for IFRS purposes. Our opinion 
is not modified for this matter. 
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Other matters  
 
We have also audited the individual and consolidated statements of value added for the 
period from March 10, 2011 (date of the Company’s incorporation) through December 31, 
2011, prepared under the Company’s management responsibility, the presentation of 
which is required by Brazilian corporation law for publicly held companies, and as 
supplementary information under IFRS, whereby no statement of value added 
presentation is required. These statements have been subject to the same auditing 
procedures previously described and, in our opinion, are presented fairly, in all material 
respects, in relation to the overall financial statements. 
 
Rio de Janeiro, February 7, 2012  
 
ERNST & YOUNG TERCO 
Auditores Independentes S.S. 
CRC - 2SP 015.199/O-6 - F - RJ 
 
        
 
Wilson J. O. Moraes 
Accountant CRC - 1RJ 107.211/O-1 


 Fernando Alberto S. de Magalhães 
Accountant CRC - 1SP 133.169/O-0 - S -RJ 
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A free translation of the financial statements from Portuguese into English 
 
Manabi Holding S.A. 
 
Balance sheets  
As at December 31, 2011 
(In thousands of reais) 
 
 


 
 


Notes 
 Parent 


company 
 


Consolidated 
Assets       
Current assets       


Cash and cash equivalents  6  192,906  192,906 
Recoverable taxes    432  432 
Other    148  148 


Total current assets    193,486  193,486 
       
Non-current assets       


Advances for future capital increase  11  8,941  - 
Investments  7  585,329  - 
Property, plant and equipment  8  1,593  7,638 
Intangible assets  9 -  591,153 


Total non-current assets    595,863  598,791 
       
Total assets    789,349  792,277 
       
Liabilities and equity       
Current liabilities       


Trade accounts payable    340  3,135 
Vacation and related charges    392  392 
Social security obligations    429  429 
Tax liabilities    543  738 
Provision for losses on investments  7  62  - 
Other    1  1 


Total current liabilities    1,767  4,695 
       
Equity  12     


Capital stock    786,706  786,706 
Capital reserve    1  1 
Share-based payment reserve    939  939 
Accumulated losses    (64)  (64) 


Total equity    787,582  787,582 
       
Total liabilities and equity    789,349  792,277 
 
 
See accompanying notes.
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Manabi Holding S.A. 
 
Statements of income 
For the period from March 10, 2011 through December 31, 2011 
(In thousands of reais), except for the loss per share in reais 
 
 


 
 


Notes 
 Parent 


company 
 


Consolidated 
Operating expenses      


Personnel   (7,181)  (7,181) 
Services rendered    (3,898)  (3,971) 
General and administrative expenses    (2,021)  (2,025) 
Depreciation    (29)  (29) 
Taxes    (101)  (101) 


    (13,230)  (13,307) 
Other operating expenses       


Equity results and provision for losses on 
investments 
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(77) 


 
- 


       
Operating losses before financial results    (13,307)  (13,307) 
       
Financial income and expenses       


Financial income    13,332  13,332 
Financial expenses    (89)  (89) 


    13,243  13,243 
       
Loss before income tax and social contribution    (64)  (64) 
Income tax and social contribution  10  -  - 
       
Loss for the period    (64)  (64) 
       
Loss per common share (basic and diluted)  12  (0.10)   
Loss per preferred share (basic and diluted)  12  (0.10)   
 
 
See accompanying notes 
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Manabi Holding S.A. 
 
Statement of changes in equity 
For the period from March 10, 2011 through December 31, 2011 
(In thousands of reais) 
 
 
  Capital stock          


 Subscribed 
Unpaid 
capital 


Equity 
issuance 


costs  


Capital reserve - 
subscription 


warrant  
Stock options 


reserve  
Accumulated 


losses  Total 
            
Subscribed capital - March 10, 2011 1 (1) -  -  -  -  - 


            
Capital increase - 1 -  -  -  -  1 
Capital increases (Note 12) 806,789 - (20,084)  -  -  -  786,705 
Subscription warrant (Note 12) - - -  1  -  -  1 
Stock options (Note 11) - - -  -  939    939 
Loss for the period - - -  -  -  (64)  (64) 


            
At December 31, 2011 806,790 - (20,084)  1  939  (64)  787,582 
 
 
See accompanying notes. 
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Manabi Holding S.A. 
 
Statements of cash flows  
For the period from March 10, 2011 through December 31, 2011 
(In thousands of reais) 
 
 


 
 Parent  


company 
 


Consolidated 
Cash flows from operating activities     
Loss before income tax and social contribution (64)  (64) 
Adjustments to reconcile the loss before income taxes to cash from 


operating activities 
 


 
 


 
Depreciation  29  29 
Stock options  939  939 
Equity results  15  - 
Provision for losses on investments  62  - 
Changes in assets and liabilities     


Other assets (580)  (580) 
Trade accounts payable  340  3,135 
Vacation and related charges  392  392 
Social security obligations  429  429 
Tax liabilities  543  738 
Other liabilities  1  1 


     
Net cash from operating activities 2,106  5,019 
     
Cash flows from investing activities     


Advances for future capital increase (8,941)  - 
Acquisition of property, plant & equipment (1,622)  (7,667) 
Additions to intangible assets -  (5,809) 
Capital increase in subsidiaries  (38,476)  - 
Acquisition of mining rights (546,868)  (585,344) 


     
Net cash used in investing activities (595,907)  (598,820) 
     
Cash flows from financing activities     


Capital increase, net of issuance costs 786,706  786,706 
Subscription warrant 1  1 


     
Net cash from financing activities  786,707  786,707 
     
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  192,906  192,906 
     
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  -  - 
     
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period  192,906  192,906 
 
 
See accompanying notes. 
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Manabi Holding S.A. 
 
Statements of value added  
For the period from March 10, 2011 through December 31, 2011 
(In thousands of reais) 
 
 


 
 Parent 


company 
 


Consolidated 
Inputs acquired from third parties     


Services rendered by third parties (3,898)  (3,971) 
    
Gross value added (3,898)  (3,971) 


    
Depreciation (29)  (29) 


    
Net value added (3,927)  (4,000) 
    
Transferred value added received    


Equity results (15)  - 
Provision for losses on investments (62)  - 
Financial income  13,332  13,332 


Total value added to be distributed  9,328  9,332 
     
Distribution of value added     


Personnel     
Direct remuneration  4,020  4,020 
Benefits  300  300 
Accrued severance indemnity (FGTS)  247  247 
Management fees  1,465  1,465 
  6,032  6,032 


     
General and administrative expenses  2,021  2,025 
     
Tax     


Federal  1,149  1,149 
Municipal  50  50 
Intra-segment obligations  51  51 
  1,250  1,250 


     
Financial expenses  89  89 
     
Loss for the period  (64)  (64) 


     
Value added distributed  9,328  9,332 
 
 
See accompanying notes. 
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Manabi Holding S.A. 
 
Notes to the financial statements  
December 31, 2011 
(In thousands of reais, except when otherwise indicated) 
 
 
1. Operations 


 
Manabi Holding S.A. ("Manabi" or the "Company"), was incorporated on March 10, 
2011, is a public company, with a head office in the city of Rio de Janeiro. The 
Company's purpose, directly and indirectly through its subsidiaries, is to perform the 
following activities: (i) prospect, develop and negotiate business opportunities in the 
exploration, economic exploration, development, mining, extraction, production and 
sale of iron ore and other mineral reserves in Brazil, and (ii) invest, hold interest and 
operate assets and companies in the iron ore and other mining reserves exploration 
industry, including logistics, transport, industrial facilities and other infra-structures 
related to those business opportunities, assets and companies. 
 
At December 31, 2011, the Company owns 100% of the companies Morro do Pilar 
Minerais S.A. (“MOPI”), Morro Escuro Minerais S.A. (“MOES”) and Manabi Logística 
S.A. (“Manabi Log”).  
 
The subsidiaries MOPI and MOES were acquired on June 8, 2011, and their purpose 
is to (a) research, explore, mining, process and transport of goods and mining 
products; (b) render geological services; (c) render intermediation services related to the 
activities described above; (d) hold interest in other companies, in Brazil or abroad; (e) 
lease vehicles, drills and equipment for drilling and mining; and (f) render drilling services 
for mining activities.  
 
Manabi Log’s business purpose is to consolidate effective logistics for the production of 
iron ore, related to the possible development of a port terminal to export. Manabi Log 
does not currently have any operations; this subsidiary owns an area where said port 
terminal might be built.   
 
The Company does not have an operational history; therefore, it will face challenges and 
uncertainties in the financial and operational planning to perform its business plans. 
However, considering that the mining, logistics, transport and infrastructure markets are 
increasing the Company expects opportunities to raise funds for the expansion and 
financing of its investments.  
 
The development and implementation of an integrated production project and 
transport of iron ore is capital intensive. In this context, the Company’s management 
believes that the funds held in cash are sufficient for up to 18 months of operations. In 
the future, the Company’s management will evaluate the different alternatives of 
capitalization for the Company, according to its needs.  







 
Manabi Holding S.A. 
 
Notes to the financial statements (Continued) 
December 31, 2011 
(In thousands of reais, except when indicated otherwise) 
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1. Operations (Continued) 
 
According to the Company’s current budget approved by its shareholders for the next 12 
months, the Company intends to invest mainly in (i) improvement of its knowledge 
regarding mining assets with exploration and research reports, drilling, characterization 
and modeling, (ii) own engineering, (iii) obtaining the licenses necessary for operations, 
(iv) logistic infrastructure, and (v) negotiation of contracts with potential buyers.  The 
Company began engaging renowned companies to render probing, sample analysis, 
chemical analysis of samples, preparation of environmental studies and development of 
conceptual engineering for the mine, pipeline, and port terminal.  
 
On September 12, 2011, the Company received the approval of the application to 
become a public company at CVM (Brazilian Securities Commission) and at 
BM&FBOVESPA.  This request was motivated by the intention to hold a future initial 
public offering of common shares, according to CVM Instruction No. 400, of December 
29, 2003, as amended. 
 
 


2. Preparation bases and presentation of the financial statements  
 
The individual financial statements were prepared and are presented in accordance 
with the accounting practices adopted in Brazil, which includes the provisions of 
Brazilian Corporation Law, the rules and regulations from CVM, and the accounting 
pronouncements, orientation and interpretations issued by the Accounting 
Pronouncements Committee (CPC). The accounting practices differ from IFRS - 
applicable to the separate financial statements - solely with respect to the 
measurement of investments in subsidiaries, under the equity method, while such 
investments would be measured at cost or fair value for IFRS purposes. 
 
The consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB) and in accordance with accounting practices adopted in 
Brazil    
 
As previously mentioned, the Company was incorporated at March 10, 2011, and 
therefore the presentation of comparative information for 2010 is not applicable.  
 
The Company’s management approved these financial statements on February 7, 
2012. 


  







 
Manabi Holding S.A. 
 
Notes to the financial statements (Continued) 
December 31, 2011 
(In thousands of reais, except when indicated otherwise) 
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3. Summary of significant accounting practices 
 
We present the main accounting practices used by the Company as follows: 
 
3.1. Consolidation 


 
The consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2011 include the 
financial information of the wholly-owned subsidiaries MOPI, MOES and Manabi 
Log.  
 
The consolidation process involving balance sheet and profit and loss accounts 
corresponds to the consolidation of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses 
accounts, according to their nature, with the following eliminations: (a) 
elimination of asset and/or liability balances between the consolidated 
companies; (b) elimination of investments of the parent company and the equity 
of the subsidiaries; and (c) elimination of revenue and expenses from 
transactions between the consolidated companies. 
 


3.2. Business combinations 
 
Business combinations are recorded under the acquisition method. Acquisition 
cost is measured by adding transferred payments, which is assessed based on 
fair value on the acquisition date, and the amount corresponding to the equity 
holding of the minority interest in the acquired company. For each business 
combination, the acquiring party must measure the equity holding of the minority 
interest in the acquired company at fair value or based on its interests in net 
assets identified in the acquired company. Costs directly related to the 
acquisition are recorded as expenses when incurred. 
 
After acquiring a business, the Company must assess the assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed for the purpose of classifying and allocating them according 
to contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions on the 
acquisition date. In the event of a business combination in stages, fair value on 
the acquisition date of interests previously held in the acquired company’s 
capital is reassessed at fair value on the acquisition date, and any impacts are 
recognized in profit or loss.   


  







 
Manabi Holding S.A. 
 
Notes to the financial statements (Continued) 
December 31, 2011 
(In thousands of reais, except when indicated otherwise) 
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3. Summary of significant accounting practices (Continued) 
 


3.2. Business combinations (Continued) 
 
Any contingent payment to be transferred by the acquirer shall be recognized at 
fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of 
contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability, will be 
recorded in accordance with CPC 38 - Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurements in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If 
the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it should not be remesuared 
until it is finally settled within equity. 


 
Goodwill is initially measured as the difference between the transferred 
consideration exceeding the acquired net assets (identifiable net assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed).  If the consideration is lower than the fair 
value of the acquired net assets, the difference must be recognized as gain in 
profit or loss. After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost, net of any 
accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill 
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to 
each of the Company’s cash generating unit that are expected to benefit from 
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree 
are assigned to those units.  


 
3.3. Financial instruments 


 
Financial assets  
 
The Company's financial assets are currently represented only by cash and 
cash equivalents, classified at fair value through profit or loss, with negotiation 
capacity within a short period of time (e.g. 3 months).  
 
A financial asset is classified at fair value through profit or loss when it is held for 
trading, i.e., intended for such purpose upon initial recognition. After initial 
recognition, transaction costs are recognized in the profit or loss as incurred.  
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are presented in the balance 
sheet at fair value, with the corresponding profit or loss recognized in the income 
statement.  
 
The classification depends on the purpose for which financial assets were 
acquired and is determined upon initial recognition.  
 
Financial assets are written off when the right to receive cash flows from the 
investments have expired or have been transferred, and the Company has 
transferred substantially all ownership risks and rights for those assets.  
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3. Summary of significant accounting practices (Continued) 
 


3.3. Financial instruments (Continued) 
 
Financial liabilities  
 
The Company's financial liabilities are currently represented only by suppliers. 
Financial liabilities are recognized initially on the date of trade on which the 
Company became party to the dispositions of the contract. The Company writes 
off a financial liability when it is paid or when it's contractual obligations are 
canceled. 
 
Financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value, plus any attributable 
transaction costs. After initial recognition, those financial liabilities are measured 
according to amortized cost, adjusted based on monetary variations and foreign 
exchange rates, including interest incurred up to the balance sheet date, based 
on contractual terms. Gains and losses are recognized in the income statements 
upon write off of liabilities, as well as with the interest accrual and monetary 
indexation.  
 
Derivative financial instruments 
 
Derivatives are recognized initially and subsequently measured at fair value. 
The variation of fair value is recorded in profit or loss. The Company did not 
operate with derivatives in 2011.  
 
Offsetting of financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is 
presented in the financial position if, and only if, the Company has the 
enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention 
to settle on a net basis or realize the assets and settle the liabilities 
simultaneously.  
 


3.4. Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents are held to meet short-term cash commitments and 
not for investment or other purposes. The Company considers as cash and cash 
equivalents investments immediately redeemable at a known amount and that 
are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Therefore, an investment 
usually qualifies as cash and cash equivalents when it has short-term maturity, 
e.g., three months or less, from the date of acquisition. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting practices (Continued) 
 


3.5. Investments in subsidiaries 
 
Investments in subsidiaries are recorded with the equity method in the parent 
company's financial statements, which are eliminated in the consolidated 
financial statements.  
 
A subsidiary is an entity in which the Company holds, directly or through other 
subsidiaries, interests that may permanently entitle it to give resolutions in 
Company's meetings and elect the majority of management members.    
 
Based on the equity method, investments in subsidiaries are recorded at cost in 
the Company’s balance sheet, plus any changes after acquisition of the 
subsidiaries’ shares. Goodwill related to subsidiaries is included in the 
investment book value and it is not amortized. 
 


3.6. Property, plant and equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment is recorded at acquisition cost, deducting 
accumulated depreciation according to the straight-line method or according to 
the produced units method for mining assets (when operational) and the 
provision for impairment, when applicable. Land is not depreciated and 
expansion expenses related to leasehold improvements are amortized based on 
the lease contract period or useful life expected for the asset, whichever the 
lowest. 
 


3.7. Intangible assets 
 
Intangible assets comprise mainly mining rights and are recorded at the cost of 
acquisition. Depreciation shall be calculated considering the estimated period in 
which the corresponding benefits of the intangible assets are earned and they 
will begin to be calculated from the moment the related asset enters into 
operation. Intangible assets are recognized only if it is probable that will 
generate economic benefits for the Company and that their respective value can 
be measured reliably. 
 
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recorded at fair value at 
the acquisition date. Subsequently, amortization and impairment losses are 
deducted, when applicable. 
 
Management’s initial estimate is that mining reserves shall be extracted over 
approximately 20 years from the beginning of the operations. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting practices (Continued) 
 


3.8. Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or 
constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation 
and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation. Where the Company 
expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is 
recognized as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually 
certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the income 
statement net of any reimbursement. 
 
The Company and its subsidiaries are currently not party to any judicial or 
administrative proceedings.  
 


3.9. Other assets and liabilities 
 
Assets are recognized in balance sheets when it is likely that their future 
economic benefits will flow to the Company, and their cost or amount can be 
reliably measured. 
 
Assets and liabilities are classified as current when these items are likely to be 
settled or realized within 12 months; otherwise those are classified as non-
current.  
 


3.10. Determination of profit or loss 
 


Revenues and expenses are recorded on an accrual basis. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting practices (Continued) 
 


3.11. Income tax and social contribution  
 


The income tax and social contribution at the Company and its subsidiaries are 
calculated based on the taxable profit calcutated under the real profit regime. The 
tax base considers additions and exclusions provided by the legislation in force. 
Deferred income tax and social contribution is provided on tax losses 
carryforward or using the liability method for temporary differences between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amount for financial 
reporting purposes, net of the provision for losses, when applicable. These 
temporary differences are used to reduce future taxable profits.  
 
The Company assesses the deferred income tax and social contribution 
amounts in relation to taxable profit projections and, if necessary, reduces 
amounts to their expected value.  


 
3.12. Significant accounting judgment, estimates and assumptions 


 
The Company uses significant accounting judgment, estimates and assumptions to 
measure and recognize certain assets and liabilities in its financial statements. The 
determination of these estimates involves past and present events, as well as 
expectation about future events and other objective and subjective matters. 
 
Significant items subject to estimates, which were considered or will affect the 
Company after the beginning of production, include: useful lives of property, plant 
and equipments, reserves estimates included in the unit of production depreciation 
method, recoverable amount of each cash generating unit, impairment of assets, 
deferred income tax and social contribution, provision for contingencies and others. 
 
The actual transaction involving estimates can result in different outcomes from 
what has been recorded in the financial statements due to the assumptions involved 
in the determination process. The Company review the estimates and assumptions 
at least annually.  


 
3.13. Functional currency and presentation of financial statements 


 
The items included in the financial statements are measured using the Real (R$) 
which is the currency in the economic environment in which the Company 
operates (“functional currency”).   
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3. Summary of significant accounting practices (Continued) 
 


3.14. Statements of cash flows  
 


The statements of cash flows were prepared and presented in accordance with 
Accounting Pronouncement CPC 03 – Statements of Cash Flow. 
 


3.15. Statements of value added 
 


The statements of value added were prepared and are presented in accordance 
with Accounting Pronouncement CPC 09 – Statements of Value Added.  
 
The presentation of statements of value added is required by the Brazilian 
Corporation Law and is presented as supplementary information for International 
Financial Reporting Standard.  
 


3.16. Earnings (loss) per share  
 


Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the net income (loss) for 
the period attributable to common and preferred equity holders of the parent by 
the weighted average number of common and preferred shares outstanding 
during the period. 
 
 
Dilutive earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net income 
(loss) for the period attributable to common and preferred equity holders of the 
parent by the weighted average number of common and preferred shares 
outstanding during the period plus the weighted average number of common 
and preferred shares that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive 
potential common and preferred shares into common and preferred shares. 
 


3.17. Segment information 
 


The definition of operating segments is carried out in conjunction with analysis of 
operations by the Company’s main decision maker who is responsible for the 
allocation of funds and assessment of performance of the operating segments, 
which have been identified as the Chief Executive Officer. Currently, the 
Company only has a mining segment which is in research and development 
stage. 
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4. New accounting pronouncements and interpretations 
 
The following new interpretations, amendments and interpretations of standards were 
issued by IASB but are not in force in 2011. Early adoption as allowed by the IASB, 
was not permitted in Brazil under Accounting Pronouncements from Brazil’s FASB 
(CPC). 
 
� IAS 19 - "Employee Benefits " amended in June 2011. The main impacts of the 


amendments are: (i) elimination of the corridor approach, (ii) recognition of 
actuarial gains and losses in other comprehensive income as incurred, (iii) 
immediate recognition of historic service costs in income and (iv) substitution of 
contribution costs and expected return on plan assets for the net contribution 
amount calculated through the application of the asset discount rate (liability) of 
the net defined benefit. This standard is applicable as from January 1, 2013. The 
Company did not have any employee benefits subject to IAS 19 as at December 
31, 2011, and this standard will not impact the Company’s financial statements.  


 
� IFRS 9 - "Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement", covers the 


classification, measurement and disclosure of financial assets and liabilities. IFRS 
9 was issued in November 2009 and October 2010 and substituted the wording of 
IAS 39 relating to the classification and measurement of financial instruments. 
IFRS 9 requires the classification of financial instruments in two categories: 
measured at fair value through profit or loss and measured at amortized cost. 
Calculation is made based on initial recognition. The calculation basis is based on 
the business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial 
instruments. In relation to financial liability, the standard maintains the majority of 
requirements established by IAS 39. The main alteration is that in cases where 
the fair value option is adopted for financial liabilities the portion of change in fair 
value due to the credit risk of the entity itself is recorded in other comprehensive 
income and not in the income statements except when this results in a mismatch 
in accounts. The standard is applicable as from January 1, 2013. The Company’s 
Management understands that IFRS 9 will not have significant impact in the 
Company’s financial statements.  


 
� IFRS 10 - "Consolidated Financial Statements" supports existing principles, 


identifying the concept of control as the predominant factor in determining 
whether an entity should or should not be included in the company’s consolidated 
financial statements. The standard provides additional guidance for the 
determination of control. This standard is applicable as from January 1, 2013. The 
Company’s Management understands that this standard will not impact the 
Company’s financial statements.  
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4. New accounting pronouncements and interpretations (Continued) 
 


� IFRS 11 - "Joint Arrangements", issued in May 2011. The standard provides a 
more realistic approach for joint agreements in focusing on the rights and 
obligations of the arrangement rather than its legal form. There are two types of 
joint arrangements: (i) joint operations – that occur when an operator holds right 
and contractual obligations over assets and as a result records its portion under 
assets liabilities, revenues and expenses; and (ii) shared control – occurs when 
an operator holds rights over the net assets of an agreement and records the 
investment by the equity pickup method. The proportional consolidation method 
will no longer be permitted under joint control. The Company did not have any 
joint arrangement up to December 31, 2011 and this standard will not impact the 
Company’s financial statements. This standard will be effective from January 1, 
2013. 


 
� IFRS 12 - "Disclosure of Involvement with Other Entities", covers the 


requirements over disclosure for all forms of interest in joint arrangements, 
associations, interest for specific purposes and other interest not recorded in 
accounts. This standard is effective from January 1, 2013. The Company’s 
Management understands that this standard will not impact the Company’s 
financial statements. 
 


� IFRS 13 - "Fair Value Measurement", issued in May 2011. The objective of IFRS 
13 is to improve consistency and simplify fair value measurement providing a 
more precise definition of the sole source of fair value measurement and 
disclosure requirements for IFRS purposes. The requirements which are closely 
aligned between IFRS and US GAAP, do not increase use of fair value 
accounting but provide guidelines on their application when their use is already 
required or permitted by other IFRS or US GAAP standards. The standard will be 
applicable from January 1, 2013. The Company’s Management understands that 
this standard will not impact the Company’s financial statements. 
 


� IAS 12 “Income Taxes – Recovery of Underlying Assets”. This amendment 
changes some definitions in the tax basis, temporary differences, uncertain tax 
positions and new concepts of measurement of deferred taxes, depending 
whether the entity expects to recover the asset through use or selling the asset. 
This pronouncement is applicable from January 1, 2012. The Company’s 
Management understands that this standard will not impact the Company’s 
financial statements.   
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5. Business combinations 
 
On June 8, 2011, the Company acquired all shares in the companies, MOPI and 
MOES, which are the holders of certain mining rights and have compiled studies and 
research into the extraction of iron ore.   
 
A summary of those acquisitions is as follows:  
 


  
MOPI  


 
MOES  TOTAL 


Book values of the assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed 


  
 


 


Cash  
 


2 
 


2 4 
Intangibles  


 
30,658 


 
7,813 38,471 


Accounts payable   
 


(30,652) 
 


(7,811) (38,463) 
Net assets acquired at book value 


 
8 


 
4 12 


Excess paid, allocated to intangible assets 
acquired (a) 491,427 


 
55,441 


 
546,868 


Consideration transferred  (b) 491,435 
 


55,445 546,880 
 
(a) The intangible assets acquired are represented by prospecting rights and existing mining 


reserves held by the acquired entities. Fair value measurement was carried out by a 
specialist through the estimated discounted cash flow method relating to mining reserves.  
The companies acquired had R$ 38,471 on their balance sheets relating to prospecting 
rights and capitalized costs. According to management evaluation the total fair value of 
intangible assets was approximately R$ 585 million (Note 7). Accordingly, all the excess 
paid was allocated to intangible assets.   


 


(b) The consideration transferred was fully paid in cash at the acquisition date on June 8, 
2011.  
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6. Cash and cash equivalents 
 


  Parent 
company   Consolidated 


  
    Cash and banks 
 


415 
 


415 
  
Cash equivalents   


  Certificates of Deposit (CDBs) 
 


95,903 
 


95,903 
Debentures with repurchase clauses 


 
96,588 


 
96,588 


  
192,491 


 
192,491 


  
192,906 


 
192,906 


 
Cash equivalents earnings are linked to Interbank Certificates of Deposit (CDI), 
generating remuneration between 100.6% to 101.7% of CDI, of a highly liquid nature 
(redeemable within 3 months), low credit risk, and available for use in the Company’s 
and its subsidiaries operations.   
 
Cash equivalents represented by debentures with repurchase clauses is as follows: 
 


Issuer 
 


Contract date Maturity date CDI rate  
Parent company 


and Consolidated 
      


Itaú BBA  06/08/2011 05/29/2013 101%  54,627 
Bradesco  06/08/2011 05/29/2013 101.7%  41,961 
      96,588 
 
Although final maturity in 2013, the banks guarantee the repurchase of these 
securities with no loss in value, at any moment by the Company.   
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7. Investments  
 
Investment in the subsidiaries MOPI and MOES were acquired on June 8, 2011, as 
mentioned in Note 5. On that date, the Company increased the subsidiaries capital by 
R$ 30,653 and R$ 7,811, respectively. The funds were fully utilized to pay debts of the 
same amount. 
 
Investments reconciliation during the period is as follows: 
 


  
Opening 
balance 


 


Capital 
increase 


 


Equity 
results / 


Provision 
for losses 


 


At 
December 
31, 2011 


Investments               
MOPI  8  30,653  (10)  30,651 
MOES  4  7,811  (5)  7,810 


          
Excess paid on acquisition   


     
 


 MOPI   491,427 
 


- 
 


-  491,427 
MOES   55,441 


 
- 


 
- 


 
55,441 


    546,880 
 


- 
 


- 
 


585,329 
          


Provision for losses on investments  
 


 
 


 
 


 
 Manabi Log  -    (62)  (62) 


          
Equity results and provision for losses 


on investments 
    


(77) 
  


 
Other investment information 
 


Breakdown of capital  MOPI MOES Manabi Log 
     
Total common shares 3,066,060,942 781,455,405 900 
Company’s interest 100% 100% 100% 
Equity (R$) 30,651 7,810 (62) 
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8. Property, plant and equipment 
  


 
 


 
Parent 


company  
 


 Consolidated  
  Cost Accumulated   Cost Accumulated  
 Additions(*) Depreciation(*) Net amount  Additions(*) Depreciation(*) Net amount 
         
Land - - -  5,523 - 5,523 
Construction in progress - - -  522 - 522 
Machinery and equipment  14 - 14  14 - 14 
Furniture and fixtures  602 (13) 589  602 (13) 589 
IT equipment  163 (11) 152  163 (11) 152 
Communication equipment  59 (3) 56  59 (3) 56 
Software  110 (2) 108  110 (2) 108 
Leasehold improvements  674 - 674  674 - 674 
Balance at December 31, 2011  1,622 (29) 1,593  7,667 (29) 7,638 
 
(*) The Company was incorporated on March 10, 2011 and the amounts of cost and accumulated 


depreciation as at December 31, 2011, presented above in each group of assets represent the 
additions and depreciation for the period from March 10, 2011 through December 31, 2011. 


 
On September 14, 2011, through the subsidiary Manabi Log, the Company acquired 
an area of rural land measuring 3,390,034m2, in Degredo – Suruaca, in the Regência 
district on the coast of Espírito Santo State, where it is assessing the option of 
developing a port terminal. This acquisition is part of a Company’s strategy to develop 
a logistical part of a project that includes the transport of mining goods and products 
and the development of a private port terminal for the export, handling and storage of 
iron ore from MOPI and MOES, as well as other cargos, if applicable, and as 
authorized by the Brazilian National Maritime Transport Agency (ANTAQ), under 
applicable legislation.  
 
The acquisition price for the land, in accordance with the terms of the purchase option 
agreement was R$ 5,320, fixed and non-adjustable. The Company also incurred in R$ 
203 of transaction costs, which have been included in the cost of land.  
 
In November 2011, the construction of the port terminal was started. Costs incurred in 
2011 in the amount of R$ 522, from the environmental licensing process, 
oceanographic studies and a bathymetric study and the beginning of the port’s 
conceptual engineering project, were capitalized. 
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9. Intangible assets (consolidated) 
 
Intangible assets were acquired mainly through business combinations on June 8, 
2011, represented by prospecting rights and existing mining reserves of the 
subsidiaries MOPI and MOES. 
 
Intangible assets are represented by more than 65 mining rights, respective reserves 
and exploratory costs. These mining rights are located in the State of Minas Gerais, 
which are basically in the reasearch authorization, request for authorization or in 
availability process. The Company is making the necessary actions for the transfer of 
the ownership of the acquired mining rights with the regulatory agency. 
 
 


10. Income tax and social contribution 
 
At December 31, 2011, the Company’s accumulated tax loss carryforward and 
negative basis of social contribution amounted to R$ 19,107, which management 
decided not to register deferred tax assets of R$ 6,496 until the mineral reserves are 
proved. 
 
Tax losses carryforward generated in Brazil do not expire and can be offset with future 
taxable profits, limited to 30% of the taxable profit for the year. 
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11. Transactions with related parties  
 
The Company is currently in the prospection phase and has no operational 
transactions with related parties.  
 
Remuneration of key management personnel 
 
The Company considers all current directors as key management personnel. Up to 
December 31, 2011, remuneration of these directors was R$ 2,012, relating to 
salaries, fees and social charges. Directors fees were fixed in the Shareholder’s 
Meeting at an overall amount of R$ 3,480 for 2011.  


 
Share based payment (stock options)  
 
The Company’s shareholders approved in the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting held on 
July 21, 2011, the adoption of a stock option plan for directors, officers and 
employees. The stock options issued by the Company will be settled with the issuance 
of new shares.  
 
On October 15, 2011, was approved the stock option to purchase 14,190 shares 
through individual contracts between the Company and each beneficiary. As a 
condition for acquisition of the shares the beneficiary should have completed three 
years of service (vesting period). These options, to the proportion of a third of shares 
available for the plan, are exercisable in three annual tranches. The first tranche 
exercisable 12 months from the grant date (10/15/2011) and the following tranches, in 
accordance with the same conditions, are exercisable 24 and 36 months from the 
grant date. The participants have a maximum term of sixty months to exercise the 
options from maturity. 
 
The exercise price of the options granted is R$ 1.576 (one thousand and five 
hundreds and seventy six reais) per share which shall remain at this price until the 
exercise date. The exercise price is subject to adjustment due to share grouping or 
share split. 
 
The stock options were measured and recognized at fair value using the Merton 
model (1973), widely used and accepted in academic circles for stock options 
measurement.   
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11. Transactions with related parties (Continued) 
 
Share based payment (stock options) (Continued) 
 
The table below shows the result of the fair value measurement of the stock options at 
the date of these financial statements: 
 


 Number Annual Risk free Options  
Maturity of shares(*) Volatility Rate fair value (in Reais) Matured 


       
10/15/2017 4,730 40.83% 11.05% 4,189 Not vested 
10/15/2018 4,730 39.59% 11.05% 4,460 Not vested 
10/15/2019 4,730 38.97% 11.07% 4,717 Not vested 
  Average risk    
Total 14,190 free rate 11.06% 13,366  


  
(*) There was no options exercised or forfeited from October 15, 2011 (grant) through December 31, 


2011. 
 
The effects of the stock options granted and outstanding recorded in equity and in the 
income statements are as follows: 
 


 


 


1st Program 


Total recorded in 
the income 
statement 


Total recorded in 
equity 


  
2011 939 939 939 
2012 4,464 - - 
2013 4,452 - - 
2014 3,511 - - 
 13,366 - - 
 
In case of the beneficiary resignation, the non-vested options retire with no 
compensation and the vested options can be exercised within ninety days. 
 
In case of the beneficiary being dismissed with due cause, the vested and non-vested 
options retire immediately, independently of warning or compensation. 
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11. Transactions with related parties (Continued) 
 
Other transactions 
 
The Company paid the shareholder Fabrica Holding S.A. R$ 128 in fees for consulting 
services. There are no other commitments or amounts to be paid to Fabrica Holding 
S.A. 
 
During the period ended in December 31, 2011, the Company remitted resources to 
the subsidiaries MOPI, MOES and Manabi Log, of R$ 2,429, R$ 723 and R$ 5,789, 
respectively. These resources were used to fund the acquisition of the property on the 
Espírito Santo coast, surveys, environmental surveys and studies, registration, 
assessment, negotiation and document regularization of future areas of the project. 
These payments are classified as advances for future capital increase and the capital 
increase should occur within a year.    


 
 
12. Equity 


 
a) Capital stock 


 
At December 31, 2011, subscribed paid in capital amounts to 800,000 shares, 
with 250,000 common shares and 550,000 preferred shares, all nominative and 
without par value, as detailed below: 
 


  Number of shares   
Shareholders  Common              Preferred  Total  % 


    
Fábrica Holding Ltda. 150,000  3,000  153,000  19.13% 
Ontário Teachers Pension Plan  -  165,000  165,000  20.63% 
Korea Investment Corporation  -  100,000  100,000  12.50% 
Southeastern Asset Management  -  100,000  100,000  12.50% 
Michael Stephen Vitton 50,000  11,000  61,000  7.63% 
Mathew Todd Goldsmith 50,000  6,000  56,000  7.00% 
Other  -  165,000  165,000  20.63% 
 250,000  550,000  800,000  100% 
 
Each common and preferred share awards the holder the right to one vote in the 
shareholders meetings.  
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12. Equity (Continued) 
 


a) Capital stock (Continued) 
 
On June 8, 2011, in accordance with the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting the 
following decisions were made: 
 
� Capital increase amounting to R$ 759,114, increasing the capital stock from 


R$ 1 to R$ 759,115, with the issuance of 99,500 nominative common shares, 
without par value, and 519,258 nominative preferred shares, without par 
value, at the fixed issuance price of R$ 1.30 in accordance with Article 170, 
paragraph 1o, item I, of the Brazilian Corporation Law. Payment of this capital 
was made by the shareholder IronCo LLC, through funds provided by 
exchange rate contracts. IronCo LLC represents the following shareholders: 
Ontario Teachers Pension Plan, Korea Investment Corporation, Southeastern 
Asset Management and others. 
 


� Additional capital increase amounting to R$ 47,675, increasing the capital 
stock from R$ 759,115 to R$ 806,790, with the issuance of 30,242 
nominative preferred shares without par value which was fully paid in local 
currency at the fixed issuance price of R$ 1.60, also in accordance with 
Article 170, paragraph 1o, item I, of the Brazilian Corporation Law. 
 


� Legal fees and taxes on this operation (Tax on Financial Transactions, or 
IOF), amounting to R$ 2,371 and R$ 17,713, respectively, were paid by the 
Company and recorded as equity issuance costs in equity. 
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12. Equity (Continued) 
 
b) Capital reserves 
 


Capital reserves are composed of amounts which were not recorded in the 
income statement as revenue, as they refer to amounts which do not demand any 
services or goods from the Company. These reserves are composed of 
subscription warrants and stock options reserve. 
 
On June 8, 2011, the Company issued subscription warrants to the shareholders 
(i) Fábrica Holding Ltda., (ii) Mathew Todd Goldsmith and (iii) Michael Stephen 
Vitton. These warrants grant the holders the right to subscribe 1,000 common 
shares for R$ 0.01 (one cent) in accordance with the terms and conditions  
provided in the subscription certificate  which are exercisable in whole or in part 
on occurrence of the ‘Execution Events’, as defined in the agreement.    
 
The execution events did not happen until December 31, 2011 and these events 
are not in the control of the holders. Therefore, these options did not have any 
impact in the December 31, 2011 financial statements. 
 


c) Legal reserve and dividends 
 


The legal reserve is set up on an annual basis at 5% of the net income for the 
year and it cannot exceed 20% of the capital stock, it is intended to ensure the 
integrity of capital and may only be used to offset losses or increase the capital. 
 
In accordance with statutory provisions, the minimum mandatory dividend is 
0.0001% of the net income for the year as adjusted under the Brazilian 
Corporation Law limited to the net income for the year in which it was realized. It 
is submitted to deliberation and approval at the Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting. 
The distribution of dividends to the Company’s shareholders is recognized as a 
liability in the financial statements at the end of the year and any amount over the 
mandatory minimum is only recorded when approved by the shareholders in the 
Shareholders’ Meeting.  
 
The Company incurred a loss during the year, therefore did not constitute a legal 
reserve or distribute dividends. 
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12. Equity (Continued) 
 


d) Loss per share 
 
The table below presents the results and share data used in the basic and dilutive 
loss per share computations:  
 


For the period from March 10, 2011 through 
December 31, 2011 


Common 
shares 


Preferred 
shares Total 


  
 Loss attributable to the equity holders of the parent (23) (41) (64) 


Weighted average number of shares (in thousands) 219.7 382.9 602.6 
Loss per share – basic and dilutive (*)  (0.10) (0.10) 
 


(*) The loss for the period is antidilutive for the holders of stock options and subscription warrants. 
 
 


13. Financial instruments 
 
Financial instruments at December 31, 2011, are represented by cash and cash 
equivalents in the amount of R$192,906 and are classified and measured at fair value 
through profit or loss.  
 
Financial liabilities are represented by trade accounts payable in the amount of 
R$ 340 and R$ 3,135 at the parent company and consolidated balance sheets, 
respectively, and they are recorded at amortized cost. Trade accounts payable 
average payment period is 30 days. At December 31, 2011, there were no relevant 
differences between the carrying amounts and fair values. 
 
The Company does not carry out hedge, swap or any other operations that involve 
derivative financial instruments.  
 
The Company holds its cash and cash equivalents with various highly liquid financial 
institutions and has a policy to limit exposure to each institution.  
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14. Insurance coverage (unaudited) 
 
In the Board of Directors’ meeting on June 28, 2011, the Board analyzed and 
approved a proposal forwarded by management based on a commercial proposal 
from the insurance company, Chartis Seguros Brasil S.A., for an insurance policy for 
Directors and Officers civil liability insurance at an insured amount of US$ 25,000,000 
and an annual premium of approximately US$ 116,000. The insurance contracted by 
the Company includes (i) director and management damages, and (ii) Company 
reimbursement. At an opportune moment the Board may discuss the expansion of 
coverage of this policy and/ or increase in the total amount insured.  
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A free translation from Portuguese into English of the Independent auditors’ review report 


 
 
Report on review of quarterly financial information 
 
The Shareholders, Board of Directors and Officers 
Manabi Holding S.A.  
Rio de Janeiro - RJ 
 
 
Introduction  
 
We have reviewed the individual and consolidated quarterly financial information of 
Manabi S.A., contained in the quarterly information form (ITR), for the quarter ended 
March 31, 2012, comprising the balance sheet and the related statements of operations, 
changes in equity and cash flows for the quarter ended March 31, 2012, including 
explanatory notes.  
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the individual quarterly 
financial information in accordance with Accounting Pronouncement CPC 21- Interim 
Financial Information (“CPC 21”), and the consolidated quarterly financial information in 
accordance with CPC 21 and International Accounting Standard IAS 34 - Interim Financial 
Reporting (“IAS 34”), issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), as 
well as for the fair presentation of this information in accordance with the standards issued 
by the Brazilian Securities and Exchange Commission (CVM) applicable to the preparation 
of Quarterly Financial Information (ITR). Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on 
this quarterly financial information based on our review. 
 
Scope of review 
 
We conducted our review in accordance with Brazilian and International Standards on 
Review Engagements (NBC TR 2410 - Review of Interim Financial Information Performed 
by the Independent Auditor of the Entity and ISRE 2410 - Review of Interim Financial 
Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity, respectively). A review of 
quarterly financial information consists of making inquiries, mainly to the professionals 
responsible for financial and accounting issues and the application of analytical and other 
review procedures. A review is significantly less in scope than an audit conducted in 
accordance with auditing standards and, accordingly, does not allow us to obtain 
assurance that we became aware of all significant matters that might be identified in an 
audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.  
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Report on review of quarterly financial information (Continued)  
 
 
Conclusion on individual quarterly financial information  
 
Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the 
accompanying individual interim financial information included in the quarterly information 
referred to above was not prepared, in all material aspects, in accordance with CPC 21 
applicable to the preparation of Quarterly Financial Information (ITR) and presented 
consistently with the standards issued by the Brazilian Securities and Exchange 
Commission (CVM).  
 
Conclusion on consolidated quarterly financial information  
 
Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the 
accompanying consolidated financial information referred to above was not prepared, in all 
material aspects, in accordance with CPC 21 and IAS34 applicable to the preparation of 
Quarterly Financial Information (ITR), and presented consistently with the standards 
issued by the Brazilian Securities and Exchange Commission (CVM). 
 
Emphasis paragraph  
 
As described in Note 1, the Company and its subsidiaries will continue developing business 
in the mining segment and the investments necessary for implementation of the business 
plan are significant. Currently, the Company does not have cash-generating activities or 
sufficient funds to implement its investment plan and accordingly shall depend on funds from 
shareholders or third parties to implement its business plan.  
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Report on review of quarterly financial information (Continued)  
 
 
Other matters 
 
Quarterly statements of value added 
 
We have also conducted a review of the individual and consolidated quarterly statements of 
value added, for the three-month period ended in March 31, 2012, whose presentation in the 
quarterly financial information is required by the Brazilian Securities Commission (CVM) and 
is considered supplementary information under IFRS, which does not require the 
presentation of such statement of value added. These statements were submitted to the 
same review procedures described above and, based on our review, nothing has come to 
our attention that causes us to believe that the quarterly statements of value added are not 
prepared, in all material aspects, in accordance with Accounting Pronouncement CPC 9 – 
Statement of Value Added. 
 
 
Rio de Janeiro, April 13, 2012 
 
ERNST & YOUNG TERCO  
Auditores Independentes S.S. 
CRC - 2SP 015.199/O-6 - F - RJ  
 
 
         
Wilson J. O. Moraes  Fernando Alberto S. de Magalhães  
Accountant CRC - 1RJ 107.211/O-1  Accountant CRC - 1SP 133.169/O-0 - S - RJ  
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Manabi Holding S.A. 
 
Balance Sheets 
March 31,2012 (unaudited) and December 31, 2011 
(In thousands of Reais) 
 
 


Parent company Consolidated 


Note 
March 31, 


2012 
December 31, 


2011 
March 31, 


2012 
December 31, 


2011 
Assets   
Current    


Cash and cash equivalents 5 180,851 192,906 180,851 192,906 
Recoverable taxes 592 432 592 432 
Prepaid expenses 2,535 - 2,535 - 
Other 82 148 93 148 


Total current assets 184,060 193,486 184,071 193,486 
    
Non-current    


Advances for future capital increase 6 17,619 8,941 - - 
Investment  6 585,307 585,329 - - 
Property, plant and equipment 7 1,587 1,593 23,129 7,638 
Intangible assets 8               -                 - 598,537 591,153 


Total non-current assets 604,513 595,863 621,666 598,791 
    
Total assets 788,573 789,349 805,737 792,277 
    
Liabilities and equity    
Current     


Trade accounts payable 2,262 340 4,379 3,135 
Vacation and related charges  967 392 967 392 
Social security obligations  363 429 367 429 
Tax liabilities 340 543 454 738 
Provision for losses on investments 6 71 62 - - 
Accounts payable - - 15,000 - 
Other 16 1 16 1 


Total current liabilities 4,019 1,767 21,183 4,695 
    
Equity 11   


Capital stock  786,706 786,706 786,706 786,706 
Capital reserve 1 1 1 1 
Share-based payment reserve 2,664 939 2,664 939 
Accumulated losses (4,817) (64) (4,817) (64) 


Total equity 784,554 787,582 784,554 787,582 
    
Total liabilities and equity 788,573 789,349 805,737 792,277 


 
 
See accompanying notes. 
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Manabi Holding S.A. 
 
Unaudited Statements of Operations 
Three month period ended March 31, 2012 and the period from March 10, 2011 through 
March 31, 2011 
(In thousands of Reais, except for the loss per share, in Reais) 
 
 


Parent company Consolidated (*) 


Note 
March 31,  


2012 
 March 31,  


2011 
March 31,  


2012 
Operating expenses   


Personnel (6,810)  - (6,810) 
Services rendered (1,176)  (9) (1,202) 
General and administrative expenses (1,169)  (19) (1,171) 
Depreciation (71)  - (71) 
Taxes (73)  - (73) 


(9,299)  (28) (9,327) 
Other operating expenses   


Equity results and provision for losses on 
investments 6 (30)  - -  


  (30)  - - 
  


Operating losses before financial results (9,329)  (28) (9,327) 
  


Financial income and expenses   
Financial income 4,615  - 4,615 
Financial expenses (39)  - (41) 


    
4,576  - 4,574 


Loss before income tax and social contribution (4,753)  (28) (4,753) 
  


Income tax and social contribution 9 -  - - 
  


Loss for the period (4,753)  (28) (4,753) 
  


Loss per common share (basic and diluted) 11 (5.94)  (280)  
Loss per preferred share (basic and diluted) 11 (5.94)  -  
 
(*) The Company did not have subsidiaries for the period from March 10, 2011 through March 31, 2011. 
 


 
See accompanying notes 
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Manabi Holding S.A. 
 
Unaudited Statements of Changes in Equity 
Three month period ended March 31, 2012 and the period from March 10, 2011 through 
March 31, 2011 
(In thousands of Reais) 
 
 


 
 


Capital stock        


Subscribed  


 
 


Unpaid  
capital 


Equity 
issuance 


costs  


Capital 
reserve – 


subscription 
warrant  


Stock options 
reserve  


Accumulated 
losses  Total 


 
  


 
   


 
    


Subscribed capital – Mach 10, 2011 1  (1) -  -  -  -  - 


 
  


 
   


 
    


Loss for the period -  - -  -  -  (28)             (28) 


 
  


 
   


 
    


At March 31,  2011 1  (1) -  -  -  (28)  (28) 


 
 
 
At December 31, 2011 806,790                 - (20,084)  1  939  (64)  787,582 


 
  


 
   


 
    


Stock options (Note 10) -  - -  -  1,725  -  1,725 
         


Loss for the period -  - -  -  -  (4,753)  (4,753) 
         


At March 31, 2012 806,790                  - (20,084)  1  2,664  (4,817)  784,554 


 
 
See accompanying notes. 
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Manabi Holding S.A. 
 
Unaudited Statements of Cash Flows 
Three month period ended March 31, 2012 and the period from March 10, 2011 through 
March 31, 2011 
(In thousands of Reais) 
 
 


Parent company  Consolidated (*) 
March 31,  


2012 
March 31,  


2011  
March 31,  


2012 
  


Cash flows from operating activities    
Loss before income tax and social contribution  (4,753) (28)  (4,753) 


  
Adjustments to reconcile the loss before income taxes to cash 


from operating activities     
Depreciation 71 -  71 
Stock options 1,725 -  1,725 
Equity results 21 -  - 
Provision for losses on investments 9 -  - 


  
Changes in assets and liabilities   


Recoverable taxes (160) -  (160) 
Prepaid expenses (608) -  (608) 
Other assets 67 -  55 
Trade accounts payable (5) -  (683) 
Vacation and related charges 575 -  575 
Social security obligations (66) -  (62) 
Tax liabilities (203) -  (284) 
Accounts payable - 28  - 
Other liabilities 15 -  15 


  
Net cash used in operating activities (3,312) -  (4,109) 
    
Cash flows from investing activities   


Advances for future capital increase (8,678) -  - 
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (65) -  (562) 
Additions to intangible assets - -  (7,384) 


  
Net cash used in investing activities  (8,743) -  (7,946) 
    
Cash  flows from financing activities  - -  - 


  
  


Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (12,055) -  (12,055) 
  


Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 192,906 -  192,906 
    
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 180,851 -  180,851 
 
(*) The Company did not have subsidiaries for the period from March 10, 2011 through March 31, 2011. 


 
 
See accompanying notes.   
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Manabi Holding S.A. 
 
Unaudited Statements of Value Added 
Three month period ended March 31, 2012 and the period from March 10, 2011 through 
March 31, 2011 
(In thousands of Reais) 
 
 


Parent company  Consolidated (*) 


  
March 31,  


2012  
March 31,  


2011  March 31,  
2012 


  
Inputs acquired from third parties     


Services rendered by third parties   (1,176) (9)  (1,202) 
    


Gross value added   (1,176) (9)  (1,202) 
    


Depreciation   (71) -  (71) 
    


Net value added   (1,247) (9)  (1,273) 
    


Transferred value added received     
Equity results   (21) -  - 
Provision for losses on investments   (9) -  - 
Financial income   4,615 -  4,615 


    
Total value added to be distributed (retained)   3,338 (9)  3,342 


    
Distribution of value added     


Personnel     
Direct remuneration   4,312 -  4,312 
Benefits   251 -  251 
Accrued severance indemnity (FGTS)   207 -  207 
Management fees   1,104 -  1,104 


  5,874 -  5,874 
  


General and administrative expenses   1,169 19  1,171 
    


Tax     
Federal   940 -  940 
Municipal   69 -  69 


  1,009 -  1,009 
  


Financial expenses   39 -  41 
    


Loss for the period   (4,753) (28)  (4,753) 
    


Value added distributed (retained)   3,338 (9)  3,342 
 
(*) The Company did not have subsidiaries for the period from March 10, 2011 through March 31, 2011. 


 
 
See accompanying notes.  
  







 


10 


A free translation from Portuguese into English of the Quarterly Financial Information  


 
Manabi Holding S.A. 
 
Notes to unaudited quarterly financial information  
March 31, 2012 
(In thousands of Reais, except when otherwise indicated) 
 
 
1. Operations 


 
Manabi Holding S.A. ("Manabi" or "Company") was incorporated on March 10, 2011 
and is a public company, with a head office in the city of Rio de Janeiro. The 
Company's business purpose, directly and indirectly through its subsidiaries, is to 
perform the following activities: (i) prospect, develop and negotiate business 
opportunities in the exploration, economic exploration, development, mining, 
extraction, production and sale of iron ore and other mineral deposits in Brazil, and (ii) 
invest, hold equity interest and operate assets and companies in the iron ore and 
other mineral deposits exploration industry, including logistics, transport, industrial 
facilities and other infra-structures related to business opportunities, assets and 
companies. 
 
At March 31, 2012, the Company owns 100% of the companies Morro do Pilar 
Minerais S.A. (“MOPI”), Morro Escuro Minerais S.A. (“MOES”) and Manabi Logística 
S.A. (“Manabi Log”).  
 
The subsidiaries MOPI and MOES were acquired on June 8, 2011, and their business 
purpose is to (a) research, explore, mine, process and transport products and mining 
products; (b) render geological services; (c) render intermediation services related to 
the activities described above; (d) hold interest in other companies, in Brazil or 
abroad; (e) lease of vehicles, drills and equipment for drilling and mining; and (f) 
rendering of survey services for mining activities.  
 
Manabi Log’s business purpose is to consolidate efficient logistics for the production of 
iron ore, related to the possible development of a port terminal to export. Manabi Log 
does not currently have any operations; this subsidiary owns an area where this port 
terminal might be built.  
 
The Company does not have an operational history; therefore, it will face challenges 
and uncertainties in financial and operational planning to perform its business plans. 
However, considering that the mining, logistics, transport and infrastructure markets 
are increasing, the Company expects opportunities to raise funds for the expansion 
and financing of its investments.  
 
The development and implementation of an integrated production project and 
transport of iron ore is capital intensive. In this context, management believes that the 
funds held in cash are sufficient for the next 15 months of operations. Management 
has been evaluating alternatives to access the capital markets for raising the funds 
that will enable the implementation of its business plan. 
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1.   Operations (Continued) 
 
According to the current Company’s budget approved by its shareholders for the next 
12 months, the Company plans on investing mainly in (i) improvement of its 
knowledge regarding mineral assets with exploration reports and research, drilling, 
characterization and molding, (ii) engineering, (iii) obtain the licenses necessary for 
operations, (iv) logistic structure, and (v) negotiation of contracts with potential buyers.  
The Company began engaging renowned companies to render drilling, sample 
analysis, chemical analysis of samples, preparation of environmental studies and 
development of conceptual engineering for the mine, pipeline, and port terminal.  
 
On September 12, 2011, the Company received the approval to register the Company 
as publicly held at CVM (Brazilian Securities Commission) and at BM&FBOVESPA 
(São Paulo Stock Exchange). This request was motivated by the intention to hold an 
initial public offering of common shares, according to CVM Instruction no. 400, of 
December 29, 2003, as amended. 


 
 
2. Basis for preparation and presentation of quarterly information  


 
The individual financial information has been prepared and are presented in 
accordance with CPC 21- Interim Financial Statements, and consolidated interim 
financial information in accordance with CPC 21 and International Accounting 
Financial Reporting Standard IAS 34 - Interim Financial Reporting (IAS 34). 
 
The quarterly financial information should be read in conjunction with the financial 
statements at December 31, 2011, whose individual financial statements were 
prepared in accordance with accounting practices adopted in Brazil, which 
includes the provisions of Brazilian Corporate Law and accounting standards and 
procedures issued by the CVM and the Accounting Pronouncements Committee 
(“CPC”); and the consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with 
international financial reporting standards ("IFRS") issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and in accordance with accounting 
practices adopted in Brazil. 
 
Until March 31, 2011, the Company had no subsidiaries and, therefore, no 
comparatives are shown for the period from March 10, 2011 through March 31, 2011. 
 
The Company’s management approved this quarterly financial information on April 13, 
2012.   
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3. Summary of significant accounting practices 
 
The quarterly financial information is presented based on the same accounting 
policies described in the Note 3 of the audited financial statements of December 31, 
2011, complemented by the following accounting practice.  
 
Prepaid expenses 
 
The costs related to the initial public offering of the Company are recorded as prepaid 
expenses. These costs will be transferred to equity, net of tax, after completing the 
initial public offering, or will be recognized in the statement of operations if the 
Company's shareholders decide to cancel the initial public offering. 
 
3.1. Judgment, estimates and assumptions 


 
The Company uses significant accounting judgment, estimates and assumptions 
to measure and recognize certain assets and liabilities in the financial statements. 
The determination of these estimates involves past and present events, as well as 
expectation about future events and other objective and subjective matters. 
 
Significant items subject to estimates, which were considered or will affect the 
Company after the beginning of production, include: useful lives of property, plant 
and equipments, reserves estimates included in the unit of production 
depreciation method, recoverable amount of each cash generating unit, 
impairment of assets, deferred income tax and social contribution, provision for 
contingencies and others. 
 
The actual transaction involving estimates can result in different outcomes from 
what has been recorded in the financial statements due to the assumptions 
involved in the determination process. The Company review the estimates and 
assumptions at least annually.  
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4. Business combinations 
 
On June 8, 2011, the Company acquired all shares of MOPI and MOES, which are the 
holders of certain mining rights and have compiled studies and research into the 
extraction of iron ore. 
 
A summary of acquisitions is as follows:  
 


  
MOPI MOES Total 


Book values of assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed 


  
  


Cash 
 


2 2 4 
Intangible assets 


 
30,658 7,813 38,471 


Accounts payable 
 


(30,652) (7,811) (38,463) 
Net assets acquired at book value 


 
8 4 12 


Excess paid, allocated to intangible assets 
acquired (a) 491,427 55,441 546,868 


Consideration transferred (b) 491,435 55,445 546,880 
 


(a) The intangible assets acquired are represented by prospecting rights and existing mineral reserves 
held by the acquired entities. Fair value measurement was carried out by a specialist through 
estimated discounted cash flows relating to mining reserves. The acquired companies had recorded 
R$ 38,471 on their balance sheets relating to prospecting rights and capitalized costs. According to 
management evaluation the total fair value of intangible assets was R$ 585 million. Accordingly, all 
the excess paid was allocated to intangible assets. 


 


(b) The consideration transferred was fully paid in cash on the acquisition date June 8, 2011. 
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5. Cash and cash equivalents 
 


  Parent company  Consolidated 
  March 31, 


 2012   
December 31, 


2011 
 March 31, 


 2012   
December 31, 


2011 
      
Cash and banks 23 415  23  415 
      
Cash equivalents      


Bank Deposit Certificates (CDBs) 98,694 95,903  98,694  95,903 
Debentures with repurchase clauses 82,134 96,588  82,134  96,588 


 180,828 192,491  180,828  192,491 


 180,851 192,906  180,851  192,906 


 
Cash equivalents earnings are linked to Interbank Deposit Certificates (CDI), 
generating remuneration between 100.00% to 101.70% of CDI, of a highly liquid 
nature (redeemable within 3 months from the acquisition date), low credit risk, and 
available for use in the Company’s and its subsidiaries operations.   
 
Cash equivalents represented by debentures and CDBs with repurchase clauses are 
as follow: 
 


  
   


March 31, 2012 
 December 31, 


2011 


Note Issuer  
Beginning of 


operation 
 Maturity of 


operation 
 


Index CDI 
 Parent company 


and consolidated 
 Parent company 


and consolidated 
        


CDB Bradesco  3/26/2012  3/17/2014  100,0%  394  - 
CDB Itaú BBA  6/8/2011  5/29/2013  101,6%  43,701  42,642 
CDB Banco do Brasil  6/8/2011  5/29/2013  100,6%  54,599  53,261 


Debentures Itaú BBA  6/8/2011  5/29/2013  101,0%  39,125  54,627 
Debentures Bradesco  6/8/2011  5/29/2013  101,7%  43,009  41,961 


        
     180,828  192,491 


 
Although the maturities are in 2013 and 2014, the banks guarantee the repurchase of 
these securities with no loss in value and at any moment as requested by 
Management.  
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6. Investments in subsidiaries (Company)  
 
The investments in the subsidiaries MOPI and MOES were acquired on June 8, 2011, 
as mentioned in Note 4. On that date the Company increased the capital of the 
investees by R$ 30,653 and R$ 7,811, respectively. The funds were fully utilized to 
pay liabilities of the same amount. 
 
Changes in investments during the period are as follows:  
 


  
December 31, 


2011 


Equity pickup / 
Provision for losses on 


investments 
March 31,  


2012 
Investments 


MOPI   30,651  (13)  30,638 
MOES   7,810  (8)  7,802 
 
Excess paid on acquisition    


 


   MOPI   491,427 -  491,427 
   MOES   55,441 - 55,441 


    585,329 (21) 585,307 
Provision for loss on investments     


Manabi Log   (62)  (9)  (71) 
         


Equity results and provision for losses 
on investments 


    
(30) 


  


 
Other investment information  
 
   MOPI  MOES  Manabi Log 
  


   Total common shares  3,066,060,942 
 


781,455,405 
 


900 
Company’s interest  100% 


 
100% 


 
100% 


Equity   30,638 
 


7,802 
 


(71) 
 


Until March 31, 2012, the Company remitted funds to the subsidiaries MOPI, MOES 
and Manabi Log, amounting to R$ 9,657, R$ 1,365 and R$ 6,597, respectively (R$ 
2,429, R$ 723 and R$ 5,789 at December 31, 2011, respectively), for acquisition of 
land on the coast of Espírito Santo, drilling, environmental studies and surveys, 
registration, assessment, negotiation and document regulation of project areas. These 
balances are classified as advances for future capital increase, and capitalization 
should occur within one year.   
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7. Property, plant and equipment 
 


Parent company 
 


 
 Parent company 


 
 March 31, 2012 


 
December 31, 2011 


  
 


Cost  
Accumulated 
depreciation    Net amount   Cost  


Accumulated 
depreciation    Net amount 


  
  


Machinery and equipment 14 
 


(1) 
 


13 
 


14 - 14 
Furniture and fixtures 607 


 
(28) 


 
579 


 
602 (13) 589 


IT equipment 198 
 


(19) 
 


179 
 


163 (11) 152 
Communication equipment 62 


 
(5) 


 
57 


 
59 (3) 56 


Software 121 (9) 112 110 (2) 108 
Leasehold improvements 685 (38) 647 674 - 674 


1,687 (100) 1,587 1,622 (29) 1,593 


 
Changes in parent company balances  
 
  Parent company 


  
December 31,  


2011  Additions Depreciation 
 March 31,  


2012 
        


Machinery and equipment  14  - (1) 13 
Furniture and fixtures  589  5 (15) 579 
IT equipment  152  35 (8) 179 
Communication equipment  56  3 (2) 57 
Software  108  11 (7) 112 
Leasehold improvements  674  11 (38)  647 
  1,593  65 (71)  1,587 


 
Consolidated 


 
 Consolidated 
 March 31, 2012 December 31, 2011 


  
 


Cost   
Accumulated 
depreciation     Net amount   Cost   


Accumulated 
depreciation    Net amount 


  
  


Land 20,823 - 20,823 5,523 - 5,523 
Construction in progress 719 


 
- 


 
719 


 
522 


 
- 


 
522 


Machinery and equipment 14 
 


(1) 
 


13 
 


14 
 


- 
 


14 
Furniture and fixtures 607 


 
(28) 


 
579 


 
602 


 
(13) 


 
589 


IT equipment 198 
 


(19) 
 


179 
 


163 
 


(11) 
 


152 
Communication equipment 62 


 
(5) 


 
57 


 
59 


 
(3) 


 
56 


Software 121 
 


(9) 
 


112 
 


110 
 


(2) 
 


108 
Leasehold improvements 685 


 
(38) 


 
647 


 
674 


   
674 


23,229 (100) 23,129 7,667 (29) 7,638 
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7. Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 
 
Changes in consolidated balances  


 
  Consolidated 


  
December 31, 


2011  Additions Depreciation 
 March 31,  


2012 
        


Land  5,523  15,300 -  20,823 
Construction in progress  522  197 -  719 
Machinery and equipment  14  - (1)  13 
Furniture and fixtures  589  5 (15)  579 
IT equipment  152  35 (8)  179 
Communication equipment  56  3 (2)  57 
Software  108  11 (7)  112 
Leasehold improvements  674  11 (38)  647 
  7,638  15,562 (71)  23,129 
 
On September 14, 2011, the subsidiary Manabi Log acquired a land measuring 
3,390,034 m2 (three million, three hundred and ninety thousand and thirty-four square 
meters), located in Degredo - Suruaca, Regência district on the coast of Espírito 
Santo State, where it is assessing the option of developing a port terminal. The 
acquisition price for the land, in accordance with the terms of the purchase option 
agreement was R$ 5,320, fixed and non-adjustable.  
 
On March 26, 2012, the subsidiary Manabi Log acquired another land measuring 
6,618,430 m2 (six million, six hundred and eighteen thousand, four hundred and thirty 
square meters) located in the same location. The acquisition price for this land, in 
accordance with the committed terms of agreement was R$ 15,300, fixed and non-
adjustable. The Company made a down payment of R$ 300 and the remaining 
balance of R$15,000, recorded as accounts payable, in current liabilities, will be fully 
settled within 90 days from the final signed agreement.  
 
For both acquisitions, there are areas of commitments of rights of possession of 
430,706 m2 (four hundred thirty thousand seven hundred and six square meters) and 
985,500 m2 (nine hundred eighty-five thousand five hundred square meters), 
respectively. 


 
The acquisitions described above are part of the Company’s strategy to develop the 
project’s logistics, which includes transport of mining products and the development of 
a private port terminal to export, handling and storage of iron ore provided by MOPI, 
as well as other cargos that might be required by the Brazil’s National Maritime 
Transport Regulatory Agency (ANTAQ), under applicable legislation.  


 
In November 2011, the construction of the port terminal was started. Costs incurred up 
to March 31, 2012 were R$ 719, from the environmental licensing process, 
oceanographic studies and a bathymetric study and the beginning of the port’s 
conceptual engineering project, were capitalized. 
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8. Intangible assets (Consolidated) 
 


Intangible assets were acquired mainly through business combinations on June 8, 
2011, represented by prospecting rights and existing mineral reserves of the 
subsidiaries MOPI and MOES. 
 
The intangible assets are represented by more than 65 mining rights, related reserves 
and exploratory costs. These mining rights are located in the State of Minas Gerais, 
which are basically in the research authorization, request for authorization or in 
availability process, and capitalized costs corresponding to the development of the 
mines, as follows: 
 


Consolidated 


December 31, 
2011 Additions March 31, 2012 


Research / development expenses and prospecting 
rights 44,285 7,384 51,669 


Intangible assets acquired (Note 4) 546,868 - 546,868 


591,153 7,384 598,537 


 
The Company is making the necessary actions for the transfer of the ownership of the 
acquired mining rights with the regulatory agency.  


 
 
9. Income and social contribution taxes 


 
At March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the Company’s accumulated tax loss 
carryforwards and negative basis of social contribution amounted to R$ 23,819 and 
R$ 19,107, respectively, which management decided not to record deferred tax assets 
in this prospecting phase. 
 
Tax loss carryforwards generated in Brazil do not expire and are offset with future 
taxable profit, limited to 30% of the taxable profit of each year. 
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10. Transactions with related parties  
 
The Company is currently in the prospection phase and has no operational 
transactions with related parties. 
 
Remuneration of key management personnel 
 
The Company considers all current directors as key management personnel. For the 
three-month period ended March 31, 2012, the remuneration of these directors was 
R$ 1,572, relating to salaries, fees and social charges. Directors fees were approved 
in the Shareholder’s Meeting at an overall amount of R$ 3,480 for 2012. 
 
Share-based payment (stock options)  
 
The Company’s shareholders approved in the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting held on 
July 21, 2011, the adoption of a stock option plan for directors, officers and 
employees. The stock options issued by the Company will be settled with the issuance 
of new shares.  
 
At March 31, 2012, a total of 22,290 shares have been granted, through individual 
agreement between the Company and each beneficiary. As a condition for acquisition 
of the shares the beneficiary should have completed three years of service (vesting 
period). These options, to the proportion of a third of shares available for the plan, are 
exercisable in three annual tranches. The first tranche exercisable 12 months from the 
grant date and the following tranches, in accordance with the same conditions, are 
exercisable 24 and 36 months from the grant date. The participants have a maximum 
term of sixty months to exercise the options from maturity.  
 
The exercise price of the options granted is R$ 1,576 (one thousand, five hundred and 
seventy-six Reais) per share which shall remain at this price until the exercise date. 
As the Company has not paid dividends to date, the valuation of these options 
assumes no payment of dividends in the fair value measurement. 
 
The stock options were measured and recognized at fair value using the Merton 
model (1973).   
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10. Transactions with related parties (Continued)  
 
Share-based payment (stock options) (Continued) 


 
The table below shows the result of the fair value measurement of the stock options at 
the date of this quarterly information: 
 


Plan  
 


Grant date 
Initial maturity 


date 
 Vesting  


date 
Number of 


shares 
 
 


Annual 
volatility 


 
 


Risk free  
rate 


 
 


Dilution  
factor 


 
 


Fair value 
options 


        
2011.1  10/15/2011 10/15/2012 10/15/2017 4,730  40.41%  11.35%  99.41%  4,285 
2011.1  10/15/2011 10/15/2012 10/15/2018 4,730  39.47%  11.35%  98.82%  4,561 
2011.1  10/15/2011 10/15/2012 10/15/2019 4,730  38.95%  11.34%  98.23%  4,812 
Total at 12/31/2011   14.190     13,658 
Amendments  01/02/2012 10/15/2012 10/15/2017 500  40.86%  11.00%  99.24%  442 
Amendments  01/02/2012 10/15/2012 10/15/2018 500  39.58%  11.04%  98.33%  469 
Amendments  01/02/2012 10/15/2012 10/15/2019 500  38.98%  11.06%  97.44%  495 
2012.1  01/02/2012 10/15/2012 10/15/2017 900  40.86%  11.00%  99.24%  795 
2012.1  01/02/2012 10/15/2012 10/15/2018 900  39.58%  11.04%  98.33%  844 
2012.1  01/02/2012 10/15/2012 10/15/2019 900  38.98%  11.06%  97.44%  890 
2012.2  01/02/2012 12/01/2012 12/01/2017 300  40.67%  10.99%  99.20%  267 
2012.2  01/02/2012 12/01/2012 12/01/2018 300  39.51%  11.05%  98.30%  284 
2012.2  01/02/2012 12/01/2012 12/01/2019 300  38.95%  11.06%  97.41%  299 
2012.3  02/01/2012 01/15/2013 01/15/2018 1,000  40.55%  11.04%  99.08%  892 
2012.3  02/01/2012 01/15/2013 01/15/2019 1,000  39.47%  11.19%  98.18%  951 
2012.3  02/01/2012 01/15/2013 01/15/2020 1,000  38.80%  11.23%  97.29%  1,001 
Total for the quarter   8,100     7,629 
Total at 3/31/2012   22,290     21,287 


 
The effects of the stock options granted and outstanding recorded in equity and in the 
statements of operations are as follows: 
 


 1st program 2nd program  


Total recorded in 
statement of 


operations for the 
period  


Total recorded in 
equity 


  
2011 939 -  939  939 
2012 4,464 2,697  1,725  2,664 
2013 4,452 2,762   
2014 3,511 2,422   
2015 - 40   


 13,366 7,921   


 
In case of the beneficiary resignation, the non-vested options retire with no 
compensation and the vested options can be exercised within ninety days. 
 
In case of the beneficiary being dismissed with due cause, the vested and non-vested 
options retire immediately, independently of warning or compensation. 
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11. Equity 
 
a) Capital stock  


 
At March 31, 2012, subscribed and paid in capital amounts to 800,000 shares, 
with 250,000 common shares and 550,000 preferred shares, all nominative and 
without par value as detailed below: 
 


Number of shares 
Shareholders Common Preferred Total % 


  
 Fábrica Holding S.A.   150,000 3,000 153,000 19.13% 


Ontário Teachers Pension Plan   - 165,000 165,000 20.63% 
Korea Investment Corporation   - 100,000 100,000 12.50% 
Southeastern Asset Management   - 100,000 100,000 12.50% 
Michael Stephen Vitton   50,000 11,000 61,000 7.63% 
Mathew Todd Goldsmith   50,000 6,000 56,000 7.00% 
Other   - 165,000 165,000 20.63% 
    250,000 550,000 800,000 100.00% 


 
Each common and preferred share awards the holder the right to one vote in 
shareholder meetings. 


 
b) Capital reserves  


 
Capital reserves are composed of amounts which were not recorded in the 
statement of operations as revenue, as they refer to amounts which do not 
demand any services or products from the Company. These reserves are 
composed of subscription warrants and stock options reserve. 
 
On June 8, 2011, the Company issued subscription warrants to the shareholders 
(i) Fábrica Holding S.A., (ii) Mathew Todd Goldsmith and (iii) Michael Stephen 
Vitton. These warrants grant the holders the right to subscribe 1,000 common 
shares for R$ 0.01 (one cent) in accordance with the terms and conditions  
provided in the subscription certificate  which are exercisable in whole or in part 
on occurrence of the ‘Execution Events’, as defined in the agreement.    
 
The execution events did not happen until March 31, 2012 and these events are 
not in the control of the holders. Therefore, these options did not have any impact 
in the March 31, 2012 financial information. 
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11. Equity (Continued)  
 


c) Legal reserve and dividends 
 
The legal reserve is set up on an annual basis at 5% of the net income for the 
year and it cannot exceed 20% of the capital stock, it is intended to ensure the 
integrity of capital and may only be used to offset losses or increase the capital 
stock. 
 
In accordance with statutory provisions, the minimum mandatory dividend is 
0.0001% of the net income for the year as adjusted under the Brazilian 
Corporation Law limited to the net income for the year in which it was realized. It 
is submitted to deliberation and approval at the Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting. 
The distribution of dividends to the Company’s shareholders is recognized as a 
liability in the financial statements at the end of the year and any amount over the 
mandatory minimum is only recorded when approved by the shareholders in the 
Shareholders’ Meeting.  


 
d) Loss per share 


 
The table below presents the results and share data used in the basic and dilutive 
loss per share computations:  


 
Three-month period ended March 31, 2012 


Common Preferred Total 
  
Loss attributed to equity holders of the parent 


company (1,485) (3,268) (4,753) 
Weighted average number of shares 250,000 550,000 800,000 
Loss per share – basic and diluted (*) in Reais (5.94) (5.94) 
 
(*) The loss in the period is antidilutive for the holders of stock options and subscription warrants. 


 
Period from March 10, 2011 to March 31, 


2011 
Common Total 


  


Loss attributed to equity holders of the parent 
company (28) (28) 


Weighted average number of shares 100 100 
Loss per share – basic and diluted in Reais (280.00) 
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12. Financial instruments 
 


Financial instruments at March 31, 2012 are represented by cash and cash 
equivalents, in the amount of R$ 180,851 (R$ 192,906 at December 31, 2011) and are 
classified and measured at fair value through profit and loss. 
 
Financial liabilities are represented by trade accounts payable and accounts payable 
in the amounts of R$ 2,262 (R$ 340 at December 31, 2011) in the parent company, 
and R$ 19,379 (R$ 3,135 at December 31, 2011) in the consolidated balance, 
recorded at amortized cost. Trade accounts payable average payment period is 30 
days. At March 31, 2012, there were no relevant differences between carrying 
amounts and fair values.  
 
The Company does not carry out hedge, swap or any other operations that involve 
derivative financial instruments.  
 
The Company holds its cash and cash equivalents with various highly liquid financial 
institutions and has a policy to limit exposure to each institution.  


 
 
13. Insurance 


 
In the Board of Directors’ meeting on June 28, 2011, the Board analyzed and 
approved a proposal forwarded by management based on a proposal from the 
insurance company, Chartis Seguros Brasil S.A., for an insurance policy for Directors 
and Officers civil liability at an insured amount of US$ 25,000,000 and an annual 
premium of approximately US$ 116,000. The insurance contracted by the Company 
includes (i) director and management damages, and (ii) Company reimbursement. At 
an opportune moment the Board may discuss the expansion of coverage of this 
insurance and/ or increase in the total amount insured.  
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Praia de Botafogo, 370 
8º Andar - Botafogo 
22250-040-040 – Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brasil 
 
 
Tel:  (5521) 3273-7000 
Fax: (5521) 3273-7004 
www.ey.com.br 


A free translation from Portuguese into English of the Report on review of quarterly financial 
information 
 
Report on review of quarterly financial information 
 
The Shareholders, Board of Directors and Officers 
Manabi S.A.  
Rio de Janeiro - RJ 
 
 
Introduction  
 
We have reviewed the accompanying individual and consolidated quarterly financial 
information of Manabi S.A., contained in the quarterly financial information form (ITR) as of 
June 30, 2012, which comprises the balance sheet as of June 30, 2012, and the related 
statements of operations for the three-month and six-month periods then ended and 
changes in equity and cash flows for the six month period then ended, including 
explanatory notes.  
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the individual quarterly 
financial information in accordance with Accounting Pronouncement CPC 21- Interim 
Financial Information (“CPC 21”), issued by the Brazilian Accounting Standards Board 
(CPC), and the consolidated quarterly financial information in accordance with CPC 21 
and International Accounting Standard IAS 34 - Interim Financial Reporting (“IAS 34”), 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), as well as for the fair 
presentation of this information in accordance with the standards issued by the Brazilian 
Securities and Exchange Commission (CVM) applicable to the preparation of Quarterly 
Financial Information (ITR). Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on this quarterly 
financial information based on our review. 
 
Scope of review 
 
We conducted our review in accordance with Brazilian and International Standards on 
Review Engagements (NBC TR 2410 - Review of Interim Financial Information Performed 
by the Independent Auditor of the Entity and ISRE 2410 - Review of Interim Financial 
Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity, respectively). A review of 
quarterly financial information consists of making inquiries, mainly to the professionals 
responsible for financial and accounting issues and the application of analytical and other 
review procedures. A review is significantly less in scope than an audit conducted in 
accordance with auditing standards and, accordingly, does not allow us to obtain 
assurance that we became aware of all significant matters that might be identified in an 
audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.  
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Report on review of quarterly financial information (Continued)  
 
 
Conclusion on individual quarterly financial information  
 
Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the 
accompanying individual interim financial information included in the quarterly information 
referred to above was not prepared, in all material aspects, in accordance with CPC 21 
applicable to the preparation of Quarterly Financial Information (ITR) and presented 
consistently with the standards issued by the Brazilian Securities and Exchange 
Commission (CVM).  
 
Conclusion on consolidated quarterly financial information  
 
Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the 
accompanying consolidated financial information referred to above was not prepared, in all 
material aspects, in accordance with CPC 21 and IAS34 applicable to the preparation of 
Quarterly Financial Information (ITR), and presented consistently with the standards 
issued by the Brazilian Securities and Exchange Commission (CVM). 
 
Emphasis of matter 
 
As described in Note 1, the Company and its subsidiaries will continue developing business 
in the mining segment and the investments necessary for implementation of the business 
plan are significant. Currently, the Company does not have cash-generating activities or 
sufficient funds to implement its investment plan and accordingly shall depend on funds from 
shareholders or third parties to implement its business plan.  
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Report on review of quarterly financial information (Continued)  
 
 
Other matters 
 
Quarterly statements of value added 
 
We have also conducted a review of the individual and consolidated quarterly statements of 
value added, for the six-month period ended in June 30, 2012, whose presentation in the 
quarterly financial information is required by the Brazilian Securities Commission (CVM) and 
is considered supplementary information under IFRS, which does not require the 
presentation of such statement of value added. These statements were submitted to the 
same review procedures described above and, based on our review, nothing has come to 
our attention that causes us to believe that the quarterly statements of value added are not 
prepared, in all material aspects, in relation to the overall accompanying individual and 
consolidated interim financial information. 
 
 
Rio de Janeiro, July 30, 2012 
 
ERNST & YOUNG TERCO  
Auditores Independentes S.S. 
CRC - 2SP 015.199/O-6 - F - RJ  
 
 
 
        
Wilson J. O. Moraes Paulo José Machado 
Accountant CRC - 1RJ 107.211/O-1 Accountant CRC - 1RJ 061.469/O-4 
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A free translation from Portuguese into English of Quarterly Financial Information (ITR)  
 
 
Manabi S.A. 
 
Balance sheets (unaudited) 
June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011 
(In thousands of reais) 
 
 


Company Consolidated 


Note 
June 30,  


2012 
December 31, 


2011 
June 30,  


 2012 
December 31, 


2011 
Assets   
Current assets   


Cash and cash equivalents 5 146,649 192,906 146,649 192,906 
Recoverable taxes 947 432 947 432 
Transaction cost 3.1 10,655 - 10,655 - 
Other assets 18 148 413 148 


Total current assets 158,269 193,486 158,664 193,486 
    
Non-current assets   


Advances for future capital increase 6 25,368 8,941 - - 
Investment in subsidiaries 6 602,688 585,329 - - 
Property and equipment 7 1,822 1,593 31,891 7,638 
Intangible assets 8 - - 608,334 591,153 


Total non-current assets 629,878 595,863 640,225 598,791 
      
Total assets 788,147 789,349 798,889 792,277 
    
Liabilities and equity    
Current liabilities   


Trade accounts payable 8,443 341 18,227 3,136 
Vacation, christmas bonus and related 


charges 1,553 392 1,553 392 
Social security obligations 371 429 382 429 
Tax liabilities 366 543 544 738 
Provision for losses on investments 6 - 62 - - 
Other                                       - - 769 - 


Total current liabilities 10,733 1,767 21,475 4,695 
    
Equity 11   


Capital stock 786,706 786,706 786,706 786,706 
Capital reserve 1 1 1 1 
Reserve for share-based payment 10 4,507 939 4,507 939 
Accumulated losses (13,800) (64) (13,800) (64) 


Total equity  777,414 787,582 777,414 787,582 
      
Total liabilities and equity 788,147 789,349 798,889 792,277 


 
 
See accompanying notes. 
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Manabi S.A. 
 
Statements of operations (unaudited) 
Six-month period ended June 30, 2012 and from March 10, (date of Company’s 
incorporation) to June 30, 2011 
(In thousands of reais) 
 
 


Company               Consolidated 


Note 
June 30,   


2012 
June 30,   


2011 
 June 30,   


2012 
June 30,   


2011 
Operating expenses    


Personnel (14,118) (107)  (14,118) (107) 
Services rendered (4,164) (344)  (4,327) (344) 
General and administrative  (3,050) (105)  (3,079) (105) 
Depreciation (160) -  (160) - 
Taxes (101) (51)  (101) (51) 


(21,593) (607)  (21,785) (607) 
Other operating expenses      


Equity results and provision for losses on 
investments 6 (196) -  - - 


  (196) -  - - 
     


Operating loss before financial results (21,789) (607)  (21,785) (607) 
     


Financial income and expenses      
Financial income 8,120 1,498  8,120 1,498 
Financial expenses (67) (10)  (71) (10) 


       
8,053 1,488  8,049 1,488 


 Income (loss) before income tax and social 
contribution (13,736) 881  (13,736) 881 


Income tax and social contribution 9 - -  - - 
     


Income (loss) for the period (13,736) 881  (13,736) 881 
     


Gain (loss) per common share  (basic and  
diluted)  11 (17.17) 1.62    


Gain (loss) per preferred share (basic and 
diluted)  11 (17.17) 5.59    


 
 
See accompanying notes. 
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Manabi S.A. 
 
Statements of operations (unaudited) 
Three-month period ended June 30, 2012 and June 30, 2011 
(In thousands of reais) 
 
 


Company Consolidated 


Note 
4/1/2012 to 
6/30/2012 


4/1/2011 to 
6/30/2011  


4/1/2012 to 
6/30/2012 


6/8/2011 to 
6/30/2011 


Operating expenses    
Personnel (7,308) (107)  (7,308) (107) 
Services rendered (2,988) (335)  (3,125) (335) 
General and administrative  (1,881) (86)  (1,908) (86) 
Depreciation (88) -  (88) - 
Taxes (29) (51)  (29) (51) 


(12,294) (579)  (12,458) (579) 
Other operating expenses      


Equity results and provision for losses on 
investments (166) -  - - 


  (166) -  - - 
     


Operating loss before financial results (12,460) (579)  (12,458) (579) 
     


Financial income and expenses      
Financial income 3,505 1,498  3,505 1,498 
Financial expenses (28) (10)  (30) (10) 


       
3,477 1,488  3,475 1,488 


Income (loss) before income tax and social 
contribution (8,983) 909  (8,983) 909 


Income tax and social contribution 9 - -  - - 
     


Income (loss) for the period (8,983) 909  (8,983) 909 
     


Gain (loss) per common share  (basic and  
diluted)  11 (11.23) 1.62    


Gain (loss) per preferred share (basic and 
diluted)  11 (11.23) 4.64    


 
 
See accompanying notes. 
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Manabi S.A. 
 
Statements of changes in equity (unaudited) 
Six-month period ended June 30, 2012 and from March 10 (date of Company’s incorporation) to June 30, 2011 
(In thousands of reais) 
 
 


Capital stock        


Subscribed  Unpaid capital 


(-) Equity 
issuance 


costs  


Capital 
reserve - 


subscription 
warrant  


Reserve for 
share-based 


payment  


Retained 
earnings 


(accumulated 
losses)  Total  


         
Subscribed capital - March 10, 2011 1  (1) -  -  -  -  - 
              


Payment of capital previously subscribed -  1 -  -  -  -  1 
Capital increase  806,789  - (4,721)  -  -  -  802,068 
Subscription warrant (Note 11) -  - -  1  -  -  1 
Income for the period -  - -  -  -  881  881 


              
At June 30, 2011 806,790  - (4,721)  1  -  881  802,951 
              
At December 31, 2011 806,790   (20,084)  1  939  (64)  787,582 
              


Stock options (Note 10) -  - -  -  3,568  -  3,568 
Loss for the period -  - -  -  -  (13,736)  (13,736) 


              
At June 30, 2012 806,790  - (20,084)  1  4,507  (13,800)  777,414 
 
 
See accompanying notes. 
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Manabi S.A. 
 
Cash flow statements (unaudited) 
Six-month period ended June 30, 2012 and from March 10 (date of Company’s 
incorporation) to June 30, 2011 
(In thousands of reais) 
 


Company  Consolidated 
June 30,  


2012 
June 30,  


2011  
June 30,  


2012 
June 30,  


2011 
       


Cash flows from operating activities      
Income (loss) before income tax and social contribution (13,736) 881  (13,736) 881 
Adjustments to reconcile the income (loss) before income 


tax and social contribution to cash from operating 
activities       


Depreciation 160 -  160 - 
Stock options 3,568 -  3,568 - 
Equity results 196 -  - - 


     
     


Changes in assets and liabilities      
Recoverable taxes (515) -  (515) - 
Transaction costs (2,488) -  (2,488) - 
Other assets 130 (48)  (265) (48) 
Trade accounts payable (66) 18  483 18 
Management fees - 107  - 107 
Vacation, christmas bonus and related charges 1,161 -  1,161 - 
Social security obligations (58) -  (47) - 
Tax liabilities (176) 32  (193) 32 
Accounts payable - 41  - (38,422) 


     
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (11,824) 1,031  (11,872) (37,432) 
       
Cash flows from investing activities      


Advances for capital increase (16,426) -  - - 
Acquisition of property and equipment (388) (15)  (17,973) (15) 
Additions to intangible assets - -  (16,412) - 
Capital increase in subsidiaries (17,619) (38,475)  - (12) 
Acquisitions of mining assets - (546,868)  - (546,868) 


Net cash used in investing activities (34,433) (585,358)  (34,385) (546,895) 
     


Cash flows from financing activities      
Capital increase - 802,068  - 802,068 
Subscription warrant - 1  - 1 


Net cash from financing activities - 802,069  - 802,069 
     


Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (46,257) 217,742  (46,257) 217,742 
     


Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 192,906 -  192,906 4 
     


Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 146,649 217,742  146,649 217,746 


 
 
See accompanying notes. 
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Manabi S.A. 
 
Statements of value added (unaudited) 
Six-month period ended June 30, 2012 and from March 10, (date of Company’s 
incorporation) to June 30, 2011 
(In thousands of reais) 
 
 


Company  Consolidated 


  
June 30,  


2012 
June 30,  


2011  
June 30,  


2012 
June 30,  


2011 
     
Inputs acquired from third parties      


Services rendered by third parties   (4,164) (344)  (4,327) (344) 
       


Gross value added   (4,164) (344)  (4,327) (344) 
       


Depreciation   (160) -  (160) - 
       


Net value added   (4,324) (344)  (4,487) (344) 
       


Transferred value added received        
Equity results   (196) -  - - 


     
Financial income   8,120 1,498  8,120 1,498 


       
Total value added to be distributed    3,600 1,154  3,633 1,154 


       
Distribution of value added         


Personnel        
Direct remuneration   8,975 -  8,975 - 
Benefits   489 -  489 - 
Accrued severance indemnity (FGTS)   433 -  433 - 
Management fees   2,274 107  2,274 107 


12,171 107  12,171 107 
       


General and administrative expenses   3,050 105  3,079 105 
       


Tax         
Federal   1,947 -  1,947 - 
Municipal   101 -  101 - 
Intra-segment obligations  - 51  - 51 


2,048 51  2,048 51 
       


Financial expenses   67 10  71 10 
       


Income (loss) for the period   (13,736) 881  (13,736) 881 
       


Value added distributed   3,600 1,154  3,633 1,154 


 
 
See accompanying notes. 
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Manabi S.A. 
 
Notes to quarterly information (unaudited) 
June 30, 2012 
(In thousands of reais, except when indicated otherwise) 
 
 
1. Operations 


 
Manabi S.A. ("Manabi" or "Company"), before called Manabi Holding S.A., 
incorporated on March 10, 2011, is a public company, with a head office in the city of 
Rio de Janeiro. The Company's direct and indirect business purpose, through 
subsidiaries, is to perform the following activities: (i) prospect, develop and negotiate 
business opportunities in the exploration, economic exploration, development, mining, 
extraction, production and sale of iron ore and other mineral deposits in South 
America, (ii) invest, hold equity interest and operate assets and companies in the iron 
ore and other mineral deposits exploration industry, including logistics, transport, 
industrial facilities and other infrastructures related to business opportunities, assets 
and companies, (iii) research, exploration, extraction, processing, manufacturing, 
transportation, export and trade for goods and minerals listed in item (i) above and, 
(iv) provision of services geological. 
 
At June 30, 2012, the Company holds full control over Morro do Pilar Minerais S.A. 
(“MOPI”), Morro Escuro Minerais S.A. (“MOES”) and Manabi Logística S.A. (“Manabi 
Log”). 
 
The subsidiaries, MOPI and MOES, were acquired on June 8, 2011, and their 
business purpose is to (a) research, explore, mine, process and transport goods and 
mineral products; (b) rendering of geological services; (c) render intermediation services 
related to the activities and materials above; (d) hold interest in other companies, in Brazil 
or abroad; (e) lease of vehicles, drills and equipment for drilling and mining; and (f) 
rendering of survey services for mining.  
 
Manabi Log’s business purpose is to consolidate efficient logistics for the production of 
iron ore. Manabi Log does not currently have any operations; this subsidiary owns an area 
where Porto Norte, a port terminal, might be built. 
 
The Company does not have an operational history; therefore, it will face challenges and 
uncertainties in financial and operational planning to perform its business plans. However, 
considering that the mining, logistics, transport and infrastructure markets are increasing, 
the Company expects opportunities to raise funds for the expansion and financing of its 
investments. 
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1. Operations (Continued) 
 
The development and implementation of an integrated production project and 
transport of iron ore is capital intensive. In this context, management believes that the 
funds held in cash are sufficient for the next 12 months of operations. Management 
has been studying alternatives to access capital markets for fundraising that allow the 
implementation of its business plan.  
 
According to the current Company budget approved by its shareholders for the next 12 
months, the Company plans on investing mainly in (i) improvement of its knowledge 
regarding mineral assets with exploration reports and research, drilling, characterization 
and molding; (ii) engineering; (iii) obtain the licenses necessary for operations; (iv) 
logistics infrastructure; and (v) negotiation of contracts with potential buyers. The 
Company began engaging renowned companies to render drilling, chemical analysis of 
samples, preparation of environmental studies and development of conceptual 
engineering for the mine, pipeline, and port terminal.  
 
On September 12, 2011, the Company received the approval to register the Company 
as publicly held at CVM (Brazilian SEC) and the São Paulo Stock Exchange (BM&F 
BOVESPA). This request was motivated by the intention to hold a future initial public 
offering of common shares issued by the Company, as per CVM Rule No. 400, of 
December 29, 2003, and subsequent amendments. 
 
 


2. Basis for preparation and presentation of quarterly information  
 
The individual quarterly information was prepared and is presented according to CPC 
21.  
 
The consolidated quarterly information was prepared according to CPC 21 and IAS 
34.  
 
The quarterly information should be read jointly with the financial statements at 
December 31, 2011, whose individual financial statements were prepared in 
accordance with accounting practices adopted in Brazil, which comprise the provisions 
contained in the Brazil’s Corporation Law and accounting standards and procedures 
issued by CVM and the Brazilian FASB (CPC). The consolidated financial statements 
were prepared according to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and also according to 
accounting practices adopted in Brazil.  
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2. Basis for preparation and presentation of quarterly information 
(Continued) 


 
For comparison purposes, the amounts of June 30, 2011 were adjusted as follows: 
 


Adjustments description 
Effects on statement 


of operations 
 


Effects on 
equity 


 
Reversal of deferred income tax and social 


contribution asset 
(a) 


(1,306) (1,306) 
Reversal of issuance costs to equity (b) 4,721 - 


 
3,415 (1,306) 


 
(a) In the first semester of 2011, the Company recorded benefits of income tax and social contribution. 


However, chose to reverse them in the second semester, setting as accounting policy that such 
benefits will be recorded only when the mineral resources are proven. For comparison purposes, the 
balances of June 30, 2011 were adjusted by that amount. 
 


(b) In the first semester of 2011, the Company incurred in 4,721 for expenses related to fundraising by 
issuing shares, and such expenditure were incorrectly recorded in the income statement. For 
comparison purposes, these expenses were reclassified to equity as a reduction of the captation. 


 
Company management authorized the conclusion of this quarterly financial 
information on July 30, 2012. 


 
 
3. Summary of significant accounting practices 


 
The interim financial information is presented based on the same accounting policies 
described in the Note 3 of the audited financial statements of December 31, 2011, 
complemented by the following accounting practice.  
 
3.1. Prepaid Expenses 
 
On June 30, 2012, the Company is in a process of initial public offering of stock, which 
has not been completed yet. Costs related to the initial public offering of the Company 
are recorded as prepaid expenses. These costs will be transferred to equity, net of 
tax, after completing the initial public offering of shares. The balance recorded in 
prepaid expenses will be recognized in income if the Company's shareholders decide 
to cancel the initial public offering. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting practices (Continued) 
 
Judgment, estimates and assumptions 


 
Judgments, estimates and assumptions are used to measure and recognize certain 
assets and liabilities in the Company’s quarterly financial information. The 
determination of these estimates takes into consideration past, current and 
presupposed future events in addition to other objective or subjective factors. 
 
Significant items subject to estimates that were considered or that shall affect the 
Company after production begins include: the selection of useful lives of property, 
plant and equipment; the estimate of reserves used in the depreciation calculation by 
the units produced method; evaluation of the recoverability of cash generating units; 
analysis of the recoverability of property, plant and equipment; deferred income tax 
and social contribution; the provision for contingencies, among others. 
 
The settlement of transactions may result in different estimate values in the quarterly 
financial information due to uncertainties inherent in the estimate process. The 
Company reviews its estimates and assumptions on an annual basis at minimum. 


 
4. Business combination 


 
On June 8, 2011, the Company acquired all shares of MOPI and MOES, which are the 
holders of certain mining rights and have compiled studies and surveys into the 
extraction of iron ore. 
 
A summary of acquisitions is as follows:  
 


  
MOPI MOES Total  


Book values of assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed 


  
  


Cash 
 


2 2 4 
Intangible assets  


 
30,658 7,813 38,471 


Accounts payable  
 


(30,652) (7,811) (38,463) 
Net assets acquired at book value 


 
8 4 12 


Excess paid, allocated to intangible assets 
acquired (a)  491,427 55,441 546,868 


Consideration transferred (b) 491,435 55,445 546,880 
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4. Business combination (Continued) 
 
(a)  The intangible assets acquired are represented by prospecting rights and existing mineral reserves 


held by the acquired entities. Fair value measurement was carried out by a specialist through 
estimated discounted cash flows relating to mineral reserves. The acquired companies had 
recorded 38,471 on their balance sheets relating to prospecting rights and capitalized costs. 
According to management evaluation the total fair value of intangible assets was approximately 585 
million. Accordingly, all the excess paid was allocated to intangible assets. 


 
(b) The consideration transferred was fully paid in cash on the acquisition date June 8, 2011. 


 
 
5. Cash and cash equivalents 


 
 Company  Consolidated 
 June 30,  


2012 
December 31,  


2011  
June 30,   


2012  
December 31,  


2011 
      
Cash and banks 163 415  163  415 
Short-term investments       
     Bank Deposit Certificates (CDBs) 100,432 95,903  100,432  95,903 
     Debentures with repurchase clauses 46,054 96,588  46,054  96,588 


146,649 192,906  146,649  192,906 


 
Earnings of cash equivalents are linked to the Interbank Deposit Certificates (CDI), 
generating remuneration between 100.00% to 101.70% of CDI, of a highly liquid 
nature (redeemable within 3 months from the acquisition date), low credit risk, and 
available for use in the Company’s and its subsidiaries operations. 
 
Cash equivalents represented by debentures and CDBs with repurchase clauses are 
as follows: 
 


      June 30, 2012  
December 31, 


2011 


Note Issuer  
Beginning of 


operation  
Maturity of 
operation  Index CDI  


Company and 
Consolidated  


Company and 
Consolidated 


         
CDB Bradesco  3/26/2012  3/17/2014  100.0%  403  - 
CDB Itaú BBA  6/8/2011  5/29/2013  101.6%  44,634  42,642 
CDB Banco do Brasil  6/8/2011  5/29/2013  100.6%  54,620  53,261 
CDB Banco do Brasil  4/17/2012  4/8/2014  100.6%  775  - 


Debentures Itaú BBA  6/8/2011  5/29/2013  101.0%  2,133  54,627 
Debentures Bradesco  6/8/2011  5/29/2013  101.7%  43,921  41,961 


         
      146,486  192,491 


 
Although they mature in 2013 and 2014, the banks guarantee the repurchase of these 
securities with no loss in value and at any moment management requires.    
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6. Investments in subsidiaries (Company) 


 
Investment in subsidiaries MOPI and MOES were acquired on June 8, 2011, as 
mentioned in Note 4. On that date the Company increased capital of investees by 
30,653 and 7,811, respectively. The funds were fully utilized to pay liabilities in the 
same amount. 


 
Changes in investments in the period were as follows:   
 


December 
31,2011 


Capital 
increase  


Equity results/ 
provision for 


losses on 
investments 


June 30, 
2012 


     
Investments    


MOPI   30,651 9,658  (141) 40,168 
MOES   7,810    1,365  (21) 9,152 
Manabi Log  - 6,596  (96) 6,500 


     
Excess paid on acquisition of:         


MOPI   491,427 -  - 491,427 
MOES   55,441 -  - 55,441 


    585,329 17,619  (258) 602,688 
Provision for losses on investments       


Manabi Log   (62) -  62 - 
Equity results and provision for losses on 


investments 
 


  (196) 
 
Other investment information - June 30, 2012 
 
   MOPI  MOES  Manabi Log 
  


   Number of shares (common)  4,031,860 
 


782,820 
 


659,600 
Company’s interest  100% 


 
100% 


 
100% 


Equity  40,168 
 


9,152 
 


6,500 
 
Until June 30, 2012, the Company remitted funds to the subsidiaries MOPI, MOES 
and Manabi Log, amounting to 7,771, 935 and 16,662, respectively, for acquisition of 
land on the coast of Espírito Santo, drilling, environmental studies and surveys, 
registration, assessment, negotiation and document regulation of project areas. These 
balances are classified as advances for future capital increase, and capitalization 
should occur within one year. 
 
On April 30, 2012, the Company increased capital in its subsidiaries according to the 
amounts stated above.  
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7. Property and equipment 


 
Company balances 
 
 


 Company 


 
 June 30, 2012 


 
December 31, 2011 


   Cost 
 
Depreciation 


 
Net amount 


 
Cost 


 
Depreciation


 
Net amount 


  
Machinery and equipment 15  (1)  14 


 
14 - 14 


Furniture and fixtures 614  (44)  570 
 


602 (13) 589 
IT equipment 198  (29)  169 


 
163 (11) 152 


Communication equipment 67  (9)  58 59 (3) 56 
Software 429  (29)  400 110 (2) 108 
Leasehold improvements 688  (77)  611 674 - 674 


2,011  (189)  1,822 1,622 (29) 1,593 


 
Changes in company balances: 
 
  Company 


  
December 31, 


2011  Acquisitions Depreciation 
June 30,  


2012 
       
Machinery and equipment  14 1 (1) 14 
Furniture and fixtures  589 12 (31) 570 
IT equipment  152 36 (19) 169 
Communication equipment  56 7 (5) 58 
Software  108 319 (27) 400 
Leasehold improvements  674  14 (77) 611 
  1,593  389 (160) 1,822 
 
Consolidated balances 
 


 Consolidated 
 June 30, 2012 December 31, 2011 


   Cost Depreciation Net amount Cost Depreciation Net amount 
  
Land 27,740  -  27,740 


 
5,523 - 5,523 


Construction in progress 2,326  -  2,326 
 


522 - 522 
Machinery and equipment 15  (1)  14 


 
14 - 14 


Furniture and fixtures 617  (44)  573 
 


602 (13) 589 
IT equipment 198  (29)  169 


 
163 (11) 152 


Communication equipment 67  (9)  58 
 


59 (3) 56 
Software 429  (29)  400 110 (2) 108 
Leasehold improvements 688  (77)  611 674 674 


32,080  (189)  31,891 7,667 (29) 7,638 
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7. Property and equipment (Continued) 
 
Changes in consolidated balances 
 
  Consolidated 


  
December 31,  


2011  Acquisitions Depreciation 
June 30,  


2012 
        
Land  5,523  22,217 - 27,740 
Construction in progress  522  1,804 - 2,326 
Machinery and equipment  14  1 (1) 14 
Furniture and fixtures  589  15 (31) 573 
IT equipment  152  36 (19) 169 
Communication equipment  56  7 (5) 58 
Software  108  319 (27) 400 
Leasehold improvements  674  14 (77) 611 
  7,638  24,413 (160) 31,891 
 
On September 14, 2011, through subsidiary Manabi Log, the Company acquired land 
measuring 3,390,034 m2 (three million, three hundred and ninety thousand and thirty-
four square meters), located in Degredo - Suruaca, Regência district on the coast of 
Espírito Santo State.  The acquisition price for the land, in accordance with the terms 
of the purchase option agreement, was 5,320, fixed and non-adjustable.   
 
On March 26, 2012, also through subsidiary Manabi Log, the Company acquired land 
measuring 6,618,430 m2 (six million, six hundred and eighteen thousand, four hundred 
and thirty square meters) located in the same location. The land price, fixed and non-
adjustable, in accordance with the agreement for real estate purchase and sale 
commitment and assignment of ownership rights, was 15,300.   
 
For both acquisitions, there are areas of assignment of ownership rights commitments 
of 430,706 m2 (four hundred thirty thousand, seven hundred and six square meters) 
and 985,500 m2 (nine hundred eighty-five thousand five hundred square meters), 
respectively. 
 
The acquisitions described above are part of the Company’s strategy to develop the 
project’s logistics, which includes transport of mining products and the development of 
a private port terminal to export, handling and storage of iron ore provided by MOPI, 
as well as other cargos that might be required by the Brazil’s National Maritime 
Transport Regulatory Agency (ANTAQ), under applicable legislation. 
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7. Property and equipment (Continued) 
 
Changes in consolidated balances (Continued) 
 
In November 2011, the initial works related to the port terminal was started. Costs 
incurred up to June 30, 2012, amounting to 2,326, regarding the environmental 
licensing process, oceanographic studies and a bathymetric study and the beginning 
of the port’s conceptual engineering project, were fully capitalized to property and 
equipment. 


 
 
8. Intangible assets (Consolidated) 


 
Intangible assets were acquired mainly through business combinations on June 8, 
2011, represented by prospecting rights and existing mineral reserves of subsidiaries 
MOPI and MOES. 
 
Intangible assets are represented by more than 65 mining rights, related reserves and 
exploratory costs. These mining rights are located in the State of Minas Gerais, which 
are basically in the research authorization, request for authorization or in availability 
process, and capitalized costs corresponding to the development of the mines, as 
follows: 
 
 


 Consolidated 


 
December 31, 


2011 
 


Additions 
June 30,   


2012 
   
Research / development expenses and 


prospecting rights  44,285  17,181 61,466 
Intangible assets acquired in business  


combination (Note 4)  546,868  - 546,868 


 
 591,153  17,181 608,334 


 
The Company is making the necessary actions for the total transfer of the ownership 
of the acquired mining rights with the regulatory agency. 
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9. Income and social contribution taxes 
 
At June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the Company’s accumulated tax loss 
carryforward and negative basis of social contribution amounted to 28,548 and 
19,107, respectively, on which management decided not to record deferred income 
tax and social contribution asset in this prospecting phase. 
 
Tax loss carryforwards generated in Brazil do not expire and are offset against future 
taxable profit, limited however to 30% of the taxable profit of each year. 
 
 


10. Transactions with related parties 
 
The Company is currently in the prospection phase and has no operational 
transactions with related parties. 
 
Remuneration of key management personnel 
 
The Company considers all current officers key management personnel. In the period 
ended June 30, 2012, the remuneration of these directors totaled 3,223, referring to 
salaries, fees and social charges. Management fees were approved in the General 
Shareholder’s Meeting in an overall amount of 5,100 for 2012. 
 
Share-based payment (stock options) 
 
The Company’s shareholders approved in the General Shareholder’s Meeting held on 
July 21, 2011 the adoption of a stock option plan for directors, officers and employees. 
The stock options issued by the Company will be settled with the issuance of new 
shares. 
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10. Transactions with related parties (Continued) 
 
Share-based payment (stock options) - Continued 
 


At June 30, 2012, a total of 22,590 (twenty-two thousand, five hundred and ninety) 
shares were granted, through individual agreement between the Company and each 
beneficiary. To acquire the purchase option right, the beneficiary should have been 
with the Company at least three years (vesting period). The options, in the proportion 
of one third of the total shares available for the plan, may be exercised in three annual 
installments, the first after 12 months of the granting date and the remaining ones, 
observing the same conditions, within 24 and 36 months therefrom.  The participants 
have a maximum of sixty months, as from the end of the vesting period, to exercise 
the options.  
 


The option strike price is 1,576 (one thousand, five hundred and seventy-six reais) per 
share and must remain the same until the effective option exercise date, liable to 
corrections in the event of stock or reverse splits. As the Company has not paid 
dividends to date, the valuation of these options assumes no payment of dividends in 
the fair value measurement. 
 


Stock options were measured and recognized at fair value, based on the Merton 
model (1973). 
 


The table below presents the result of the calculation of fair value of options at the 
date of this quarterly information: 
 


Plan  Grant date 
Initial maturity 


date Maturity date  
Number of 


shares 
 
 


Annual 
volatility 


 
 Risk free rate 


 
 Dilution factor 


 
 


Fair value of 
options 


         
2011.1  10/15/2011 10/15/2012 10/15/2017 4,730  40.41%  11.35%  99.41%  4,285 
2011.1  10/15/2011 10/15/2012 10/15/2018 4,730  39.47%  11.35%  98.82%  4,561 
2011.1  10/15/2011 10/15/2012 10/15/2019 4,730  38.95%  11.34%  98.23%  4,812 


Total 12/31/2011    14,190     13,658 
Amendments  1/2/2012 10/15/2012 10/15/2017 500  40.86%  11.00%  99.24%  442 
Amendments  1/2/2012 10/15/2012 10/15/2018 500  39.58%  11.04%  98.33%  469 
Amendments  1/2/2012 10/15/2012 10/15/2019 500  38.98%  11.06%  97.44%  495 
2012.1  1/2/2012 10/15/2012 10/15/2017 900  40.86%  11.00%  99.24%  795 
2012.1  1/2/2012 10/15/2012 10/15/2018 900  39.58%  11.04%  98.33%  844 
2012.1  1/2/2012 10/15/2012 10/15/2019 900  38.98%  11.06%  97.44%  890 
2012.2  1/2/2012 12/1/2012 12/1/2017 300  40.67%  10.99%  99.20%  267 
2012.2  1/2/2012 12/1/2012 12/1/2018 300  39.51%  11.05%  98.30%  284 
2012.2  1/2/2012 12/1/2012 12/1/2019 300  38.95%  11.06%  97.41%  299 
2012.3  2/1/2012 1/15/2013 1/15/2018 1,000  40.55%  11.04%  99.08%  892 
2012.3  2/1/2012 1/15/2013 1/15/2019 1,000  39.47%  11.19%  98.18%  951 
2012.3  2/1/2012 1/15/2013 1/15/2020 1,000  38.80%  11.23%  97.29%  1,001 
2012.4  1/13/2012 1/13/2013 1/13/2018 100  40.47%  11.23%  99.20%  90 
2012.4  1/13/2012 1/13/2013 1/13/2019 100  39.41%  11.31%  98.28%  96 
2012.4  1/13/2012 1/13/2013 1/13/2020 100  38.88%  11.32%  97.37%  101 


Total for the period    8,400     7,916 
Total 6/30/2012    22,590     21,574 
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10. Transactions with related parties (Continued)   
 
Share-based payment (stock options) - Continued 
 
The effects of share-based compensation for purchase of shares, covering all granted 
and outstanding options, on equity and statement of operations for the period, are as 
follows: 
 


 1st program 2nd program 3rd program  


Total recorded in 
statement of 


operations for the 
period  


Total recorded  
in equity 


   
2011 939 - -  939  939 
2012 4,464 2,697 92  3,568  4,507 
2013 4,452 2,762 96   
2014 3,511 2,422 95   
2015 - 40 4   


 13,366 7,921 287   
 
Should the beneficiary withdraw from his position, options not yet exercisable expire, 
with no right to indemnification or compensation, and options already exercisable may 
be exercised in up to 90 days. 
 
If the beneficiary’s employment contract is terminated for cause, all rights that may be 
exercised or that may not still be exercised expire automatically, regardless of notice 
or severance.  


 
 
11. Equity 


 
a) Capital 


 
At June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, subscribed and paid-in capital is 
represented by 800,000 shares, of which 250,000 are common registered shares 
and 550,000 are preferred shares without par value as detailed below: 
 


Number of shares 
Shareholders Common Preferred Total  % 


  
 Fábrica Holding S.A.   150,000 3,000 153,000 19.13% 


Ontário Teachers Pension Plan   - 165,000 165,000 20.63% 
Korea Investment Corporation   - 100,000 100,000 12.50% 
Southeastern Asset Management   - 100,000 100,000 12.50% 
Michael Stephen Vitton   50,000 11,000 61,000 7.63% 
Mathew Todd Goldsmith   50,000 6,000 56,000 7.00% 
Other   - 165,000 165,000 20.63% 
    250,000 550,000 800,000 100.00% 
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11. Equity (Continued) 
 
a) Capital (Continued) 


 
Each common and preferred share awards the holder the right to one vote in 
decisions made in General Shareholder’s Meeting. 


 
b) Capital reserves 


 
These capital reserves are composed of subscription warrants and stock options 
plan granted. 
 
On June 8, 2011, the Company issued subscription warrants to shareholders 
(i) Fábrica Holding S.A., (ii) Mathew Todd Goldsmith and (iii) Michael Stephen 
Vitton. These warrants grant the holders the option to subscribe 1,000 shares for 
R$0.01 (one cent) in accordance with the terms and conditions provided for in the 
subscription warrant certificate, which shall be exercisable, in whole or in part, at 
the holder’s discretion, upon occurrence of the events defined in the agreement 
(“execution events”).  
 
No execution events occurred until June 30, 2012 and are not under the control of 
the option holders. As such, these options do not lead to impact on the quarterly 
information.   
 


c) Legal reserve and dividends 
 
The legal reserve is set up on an annual basis at 5% of net income for the year, 
not exceeding 20% of capital, and is intended to ensure the integrity of capital, to 
be used only to offset losses or increase capital. 
 
According to the articles of incorporation, mandatory minimum dividend is of 
0.0001% of net income for the year, adjusted under the Corporation Law, limited 
to net income for the year that has been realized, to be submitted for approval at 
General Shareholder’s Meeting. Mandatory minimum dividends are recognized as 
liabilities in the financial statements at the year end, and any exceeding amount is 
only recorded on the date of approval at the General Shareholder’s Meeting. 
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11. Equity (Continued) 
 


d) Loss per share 
 
The table below shows the share information used to calculate basic and diluted 
loss per share: 
 


 
Three-month period ended June 30, 2012 


 
Common 


 
Preferred 


 
Total  


  
     Loss attributed to shareholders (2,807)  (6,176)  (8,983) 


Weighted average number of outstanding 
shares   250,000  550,000  800,000 


Loss per share - basic and diluted (*)  (11.23)  (11.23)   
 
(*) Loss for the period does not have a diluted impact on holders of share options and subscription warrants. 
 


  
Three-month period ended June 30, 2011 


  
Common  Preferred 


 
Total  


  
Gain attributed to shareholders 284  625  909 
Weighted average number of outstanding 


shares   174,822  134,822 309,644 
Earnings per share - basic and diluted - R$ 1.62  4.64 
 


 
Six-month period ended June 30, 2012 


 
Common 


 
Preferred 


 
Total  


  
     Loss attributed to shareholders (4,292)  (9,444)  (13,736) 


Weighted average number of outstanding 
shares   250,000  550,000  800,000 


Loss per share - basic and diluted - R$ (*)  (17.17)  (17.17)   
 
(*) Loss for the period does not have a diluted impact on holders of share options and subscription warrants. 
 


  


Period from March 10 (date of Company’s 
incorporation) to June 30, 2011 


  
Common  Preferred 


 
Total  


  
Gain attributed to shareholders 275  606  881 
Weighted average number of outstanding 


shares   170,045  108,438 278,482 
Earnings per share - basic and diluted - R$ 1.62  5.59 
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12. Financial instruments 
 
At June 30, 2012, financial assets are represented by cash and cash equivalents, in 
the amount of 146,649 (192,906 at December 31, 2011), classified and measured at 
fair value through profit and loss.  
 
Financial liabilities are represented by trade accounts payable and accounts payable 
in the amounts of 8,443 (341 at December 31, 2011), Company, and 18,227 (3,136 at 
December 31, 2011), Consolidated, recorded at amortized cost.  Trade accounts 
payable mature, on average, in 30 days and, therefore, there are no differences 
between book values and fair values. 
 
The Company does not carry out hedge, swap or any other operations that involve 
derivative financial instruments. 
 
The Company holds its funds with various highly liquid financial institutions and adopts 
the policy of limiting exposure in each institution. 


 
 
13. Insurance coverage 


 
At the Board of Directors’ meeting held on June 28, 2011, the Board analyzed and 
approved a proposal presented by management based on a sales proposal from 
insurer Chartis Seguros Brasil S.A., for an insurance policy for Directors and Officers 
Civil Liability Insurance at an insured amount of US$ 25,000,000 and an annual 
premium of approximately US$ 116,000. The insurance contracted by the Company 
includes (i) director and management damages, and (ii) Company reimbursement.  At 
an opportune moment the Board may discuss the expansion of coverage of this policy 
and/or increase in the total amount insured. 
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A free translation from Portuguese into English of Report on Review of Quarterly Financial Information  
 
 
Independent auditor’s report on review of quarterly financial 
information  
 
The Shareholders, Board of Directors and Officers  
Manabi S.A. 
Rio de Janeiro - RJ  
 
Introduction  
 
We have reviewed the accompanying individual and consolidated quarterly financial 
information of Manabi S.A., contained in the quarterly financial information form (ITR) as of 
September 30, 2012, which comprises the balance sheet as of September 30, 2012 and 
the related statements of operations for the three-month and nine-month periods then 
ended, statement of changes in equity and cash flows for the nine-month period then 
ended, including explanatory notes. 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the individual quarterly 
financial information in accordance with Accounting Pronouncement CPC 21- Interim 
Financial Information (“CPC 21”), issued by the Brazilian Accounting Standards Board 
(CPC), and the consolidated quarterly financial information in accordance with CPC 21 
and International Accounting Standard IAS 34 - Interim Financial Reporting (“IAS 34”), 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), as well as for the fair 
presentation of this information in accordance with the standards issued by the Brazilian 
Securities and Exchange Commission (CVM) applicable to the preparation of Quarterly 
Financial Information (ITR). Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on this quarterly 
financial information based on our review. 
 
Scope of review 
 
We conducted our review in accordance with Brazilian and International Standards on 
Review Engagements (NBC TR 2410 - Review of Interim Financial Information Performed 
by the Independent Auditor of the Entity and ISRE 2410 - Review of Interim Financial 
Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity, respectively). A review of 
quarterly financial information consists of making inquiries, mainly to the professionals 
responsible for financial and accounting issues and the application of analytical and other 
review procedures. A review is significantly less in scope than an audit conducted in 
accordance with auditing standards and, accordingly, does not allow us to obtain 
assurance that we became aware of all significant matters that might be identified in an 
audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.  
 
 
 


Centro Empresarial PB 370 
Praia de Botafogo nº 370  
5º ao 8º andares - Botafogo 
22250-040 - Rio de Janeiro - RJ - Brasil 
 Tel:   (5521) 3263-7000 


(5521) 3263-7004  
www.ey.com.br 


 
 



http://www.ey.com.br
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Conclusion on the individual interim financial information 
 
Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the 
accompanying individual interim financial information included in the quarterly information 
referred to above was not prepared, in all material aspects, in accordance with CPC 21 
applicable to the preparation of Quarterly Financial Information (ITR) and presented 
consistently with the standards issued by the Brazilian Securities and Exchange 
Commission (CVM).  
 
Conclusion on the consolidated interim financial information 
 
Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the 
accompanying consolidated financial information referred to above was not prepared, in all 
material aspects, in accordance with CPC 21 and IAS34 applicable to the preparation of 
Quarterly Financial Information (ITR), and presented consistently with the standards 
issued by the Brazilian Securities and Exchange Commission (CVM). 
 
Emphasis paragraph 
 
As described in Note 1, the Company and its subsidiaries will continue developing business 
in the mining segment and the investments necessary for implementation of the business 
plan are significant. Currently, the Company does not have cash-generating activities or 
sufficient funds to implement its investment plan and accordingly shall depend on funds from 
shareholders or third parties to implement its business plan. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







 
  


 
 
 
 
 
 


4 


Other matters 
 
Interim statements of value added  
 
We have also conducted a review of the interim individual and consolidated interim 
statements of value added for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2012, whose 
presentation in the quarterly financial information is required by the Brazilian Securities 
Commission (CVM) and is considered supplementary information under IFRS, which does 
not require the presentation of such statement of value added. These statements were 
submitted to the same review procedures described above and, based on our review, 
nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the interim statements of 
value added are not prepared, in all material aspects, consistently in relation to the overall 
accompanying individual and consolidated quarterly financial information. 
 
 
Rio de Janeiro, October 26, 2012. 
 
ERNST & YOUNG TERCO  
Auditores Independentes S.S. 
CRC - 2SP 015.199/O-6 - F - RJ 
 
 
 
         
Wilson J. O. Moraes Paulo José Machado 
Accountant CRC - 1RJ 107.211/O-1 Accountant CRC - 1RJ 061.469/O-4 
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A free translation from Portuguese into English of Quarterly Financial Information (ITR) 
 
Manabi S.A. 
 
Balance sheets 
September 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011 
(In thousands of reais) 
 
 


Company Consolidated 
Note 9/30/2012 12/31/2011 9/30/2012 12/31/2011 


Unaudited Audited Unaudited Audited 
Assets   
Current assets    


Cash and cash equivalents 5 112,849 192,906 112,849 192,906 
Recoverable taxes 1,677 432 1,677 432 
Transaction cost 3.1 7,773 - 7,773 - 
Other assets 55 148 184 148 


Total current assets 122,354 193,486 122,483 193,486 
    
Non-current assets   


Advances for future capital increase 6 47,524 8,941 - - 
Investment in subsidiaries 6 602,569 585,329 - - 
Property and equipment 7 1,800 1,593 35,124 7,638 
Intangible assets 8 - - 622,004 591,153 


Total non-current assets 651,893 595,863 657,128 598,791 
      
Total assets 774,247 789,349 779,611 792,277 
    
Liabilities and net equity    
Current liabilities    


Trade accounts payable 8,166 341 12,326 3,136 
Vacation, Christmas bonus and related 


charges 1,934 392 1,934 392 
Social security obligations 394 429 428 429 
Tax liabilities 512 543 709 738 
Provision for losses on investments 6 - 62 - - 
Other   - - 973 - 


Total current liabilities 11,006 1,767 16,370 4,695 
    
Net equity 11   


Capital stock 786,706 786,706 786,706 786,706 
Capital reserve 1 1 1 1 
Reserve for share-based payment 10 6,350 939 6,350 939 
Accumulated losses (29,816) (64) (29,816) (64) 


Total net equity 763,241 787,582 763,241 787,582 
      
Total liabilities and net equity 774,247 789,349 779,611 792,277 


 
 
See accompanying notes. 
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Manabi S.A. 
 
Unaudited statements of operations 
Nine-month period ended September 30, 2012 and from March 10 (date of Company’s 
incorporation) to September 30, 2011 
(In thousands of reais except per income (loss) per common share, expressed in Reais) 
 
 


Company               Consolidated 
Note 9/30/2012 9/30/2011  9/30/2012 9/30/2011 


 
   


 Operating expenses    
Personnel (21,194) (2,119)  (21,194) (2,119) 
Services rendered (13,587) (1,706)  (13,841) (1,706) 
General and administrative (4,596) (691)  (4,652) (691) 
Depreciation 7 (250) (5)  (250) (5) 
Taxes (362) (80)  (362) (80) 


(39,989) (4,601)  (40,299) (4,601) 
Other operating expenses      


Equity pickup and provision for losses on 
investments 6 (317) -  - - 


  (317) -  - - 
     


Operating loss before financial results (40,306) (4,601)  (40,299) (4,601) 
     


Financial income and expenses      
Financial income 10,654 8,053  10,654 8,053 
Financial expenses (100) (47)  (107) (47) 


       
10,554 8,006  10,547 8,006 


 Income (loss) before income tax and social 
contribution (29,752) 3,405  (29,752) 3,405 


     
Income tax and social contribution 9 - -  - - 


     
Income (loss) for the period (29,752) 3,405  (29,752) 3,405 


     
Income (loss) per common share  (basic and 


diluted) 11 (37.19) 7,08    
Income (loss) per preferred share  (basic and 


diluted) 11 (37.19) 7,08    
 
 
See accompanying notes. 
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Manabi S.A. 
 
Unaudited statements of operations (Continued) 
Three-month period ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 
(In thousands of reais except per income (loss) per common share, expressed in Reais) 
 
 


Company Consolidated  


Note 
7/01/2012 to 


9/30/2012 
7/01/2011 to 


9/30/2011 
 7/01/2012 to 


9/30/2012 
7/01/2011 to 


9/30/2011 


 
   


 Operating expenses    
Personnel (7,076) (2,012)  (7,076) (2,012) 
Services rendered (9,423) (1,362)  (9,514) (1,362) 
General and administrative (1,546) (586)  (1,573) (586) 
Depreciation (91) (5)  (91) (5) 
Taxes (260) (29)  (260) (29) 


(18,396) (3,994)  (18,514) (3,994) 
Other operating expenses      


Equity pickup and provision for losses on 
investments (121) -  - - 


  (121) -  - - 
     


Operating loss before financial results (18,517) (3,994)  (18,514) (3,994) 
     


Financial income and expenses      
Financial income 2,534 6,555  2,534 6,555 
Financial expenses (33) (37)  (36) (37) 


       
2,501 6,518  2,498 6,518 


 Income (loss) before income tax and social 
contribution (16,016) 2,524  (16,016) 2,524 


     
Income tax and social contribution 9 - -  - - 


     
Income (loss) for the period (16,016) 2,524  (16,016) 2,524 


     
Income (loss) per common share  (basic and 


diluted) 11 (20.02) 3.16    
Income (loss) per preferred share  (basic and 


diluted) 11 (20.02) 3.16    
 
 
See accompanying notes. 
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Manabi S.A. 
 
Unaudited statement of changes in equity 
Nine-month period ended September 30, 2012 and from March 10 (date of Company’s incorporation) to September 30, 2011 
(In thousands of reais) 
 
 


 Capital stock        


Subscribed 
and fully paid 


in  To be paid in 


Equity 
issuance 


costs  


Capital 
reserve -  


subscription 
warrant  


 Reserve for 
share-based 


payment  


Retained 
earnings 


(accumulated 
losses)  Total 


         
Act of corporate information - March 10, 2011 1  (1) -  -  -  -  - 
              


Payment of capital previously subscribed -  1 -  -  -  -  1 
Capital increase  806,789  - (19,549)  -  -  -  787,240 
Subscription warrant -  - -  1  -  -  1 
Income for the period  -  - -  -  -  3,405  3,405 


              
At September 30, 2011  806,790  - (19,549)  1  -  3,405  790,647 
  
 
             
At December 31, 2011 (Audited) 806,790   (20,084)  1  939  (64)  787,582 
              


Stock option plan (Note 10) -  - -  -  5,411  -  5,411 
Loss for the period -  - -  -  -  (29,752)  (29,752) 


              
At September 30, 2012  806,790  - (20,084)  1  6,350  (29,816)  763,241 
 
See accompanying notes. 
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Manabi S.A. 
 
Unaudited cash flow statements 
Nine-month period ended September 30, 2012 and from March 10 (date of Company’s 
incorporation) to September 30, 2011 
(In thousands of reais) 
 


Company  Consolidated 
9/30/2012 9/30/2011  9/30/2012 9/30/2011 


     
Cash flows from operating activities       
Income (loss) before income tax and social contribution (29,752) 3,405  (29,752) 3,405 
Adjustments to reconcile the income (loss) before income 


tax and social contribution to cash from operating 
activities       
Depreciation 250 5  250 5 
Stock options 5,411 -  5,411 - 
Equity pickup and provision for losses on investments 317 -  - - 


     
     


Changes in assets and liabilities      
Recoverable taxes (1,245) (159)  (1,245) (159) 
Transaction costs (2,300) -  (2,300) - 
Other assets  93 (428)  (36) (429) 
Trade accounts payable 2,352 426  2,360 426 
Vacation, Christmas bonus and related charges 1,542 228  1,542 228 
Social security obligations (35) 33  (35) 33 
Tax liabilities (31) 334  (31) 416 
Accounts payable - -  - (33,781) 
Other liabilities - (1)  - 822 


     
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities  (23,398) 3,843  (23,836) (29,034) 
       
Cash flows from investing activities       


Advance for future capital increase (38,583) (674)  - - 
Acquisitions of property and equipment (457) (995)  (27,357) (6,514) 
Additions to intangible assets - -  (28,864) (741) 
Capital increase in subsidiaries (17,619) (38,475)  - (12) 
Acquisitions of mineral assets - (546,868)  - (546,868) 


Net cash flow used in investing activities  (56,659) (587,012)  (56,221) (554,135) 
     


Cash flows from financing activities       
Capital increase - 787,241  - 787,241 
Subscription warrant - 1  - 1 


Net cash flow from financing activities  - 787,242  - 787,242 
     


Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (80,057) 204,073  (80,057) 204,073 
     


Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 192,906 -  192,906 4 
     


Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 112,849 204,073  112,849 204,077 


 
 
See accompanying notes. 
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Manabi S.A. 
 
Unaudited statements of value added (supplementary information for IFRS purposes) 
Nine-month period ended September 30, 2012 and from March 10 (date of Company’s 
incorporation) to September 30, 2011 
(In thousands of reais) 
 
 


Company  Consolidated 
  9/30/2012 9/30/2011  9/30/2012 9/30/2011 


  
   


Inputs acquired from third parties      
Services rendered by third parties   (13,587) (1,706)  (13,841) (1,706) 


       
Gross value added   (13,587) (1,706)  (13,841) (1,706) 


       
Depreciation   (250) (5)  (250) (5) 


       
Net value added   (13,837) (1,711)  (14,091) (1,711) 


       
Transferred value added received        


Equity pickup and provision for losses on investment   (317) -  - - 
     


Financial income   10,654 8,053  10,654 8,053 
       


Total value added to be distributed (retained)   (3,500) 6,342  (3,437) 6,342 
       


Distribution of value added        
Personnel        


Direct remuneration   13,465 1,394  13,465 1,394 
Benefits   740 68  740 68 
Accrued severance indemnity (FGTS)   642 80  642 80 
Management fees   3,444 577  3,444 577 


18,291 2,119  18,291 2,119 
       


General and administrative expenses   4,596 691  4,652 691 
       


Tax        
Federal   2,903 51  2,903 51 
Municipal   144 29  144 29 
Intra-segment obligations  218 -  218 - 


3,265 80  3,265 80 
       


Financial expenses   100 47  107 47 
       


Income (loss) for the period   (29,752) 3,405  (29,752) 3,405 
       


Value added distributable (retained)   (3,500) 6,342  (3,437) 6,342 


 
 
See accompanying notes. 
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Manabi S.A. 
 
Unaudited notes to quarterly financial information 
September 30, 2012 
(In thousands of reais, except when indicated otherwise) 
 
 
1. Operations 


 
Manabi S.A. ("Manabi" or "Company") is a mining company focusing on high content 
iron ore, with an integrated logistics plan. As at September 30, 2012, Manabi holds full 
control over Morro do Pilar Minerais S.A. (“MOPI”), Morro Escuro Minerais S.A. 
(“MOES”) and Manabi Logística S.A. (“Manabi Log”). 
 
The business purpose of subsidiaries MOPI and MOES is to: (a) research, explore, 
mine, process and transport goods and mineral products; (b) render geological 
services; (c) render intermediation services related to the activities and materials above; 
(d) hold interest in other companies, in Brazil or abroad; (e) lease vehicles, probes and 
equipment for analysis and mining; and (f) render survey services for mining. 
 
Manabi Log’s business purpose is to consolidate efficient port logistics for the production 
of iron ore. Manabi Log does not currently have any operations; this subsidiary owns an 
area where the Company plans to build Porto Norte, a port terminal. 


 
On September 10, 2012, the Company’s shareholders and Board of Directors 
approved a capital increase in the amount of R$ 611,340, via private subscription, with 
the issuance of 240,000 (two hundred forty thousand) new preferred class B shares, 
which EIG Manabi Holdings S.à.r.l. (on behalf of the funds administered by EIG Global 
Energy Partners, “EIG”), U.S.-based company and global institutional investor in the 
energy and infrastructure segments, will invest R$ 305,670 in Manabi. The remainder 
will be contributed by the Company’s existing shareholders. These contributions are 
expected to be subscribed by November 2012. 
 
The development and implementation of an integrated production and transport 
project of iron ore is capital intensive. In this context, management believes that the 
funds held in cash, plus those deriving from the capital increase in progress and which 
should be part of the Company’s cash in the fourth quarter of 2012, are sufficient for at 
least the next 18 months of operations. Management has been studying alternatives 
to access capital markets for fundraising that allow the implementation of its business 
plan. 







 
Manabi S.A. 
 
Unaudited notes to quarterly financial information (Continued) 
September 30, 2012 
(In thousands of reais, except when indicated otherwise) 
 
 


12 


1. Operations (Continued) 


 
The Company plans on investing mainly in (i) improvement of its knowledge regarding 
mineral assets with exploration reports and research, drilling, characterization and 
molding; (ii) engineering; (iii) obtain the licenses necessary for operations; (iv) logistics 
infrastructure; and (v) negotiation of contracts with potential buyers. The Company began 
engaging renowned companies to render probing, chemical analysis of samples, 
preparation of environmental studies and development of conceptual engineering for the 
mine, pipeline, and port terminal. 
 


 
2. Basis for preparation and presentation of quarterly information 


 
The individual quarterly information was prepared and is presented according to CPC 
21 – Interim Financial Statements.  
 
The consolidated quarterly information was prepared according to CPC 21 and IAS 
34 – Interim Financial Reporting.  
 
The quarterly information should be read jointly with the financial statements at 
December 31, 2011, whose individual financial statements were prepared in 
accordance with accounting practices adopted in Brazil, which comprise the 
provisions contained in the Brazil’s Corporation Law and accounting standards and 
procedures issued by CVM and the Brazilian FASB (CPC). The consolidated financial 
statements were prepared according to International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and also 
according to accounting practices adopted in Brazil.  
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2. Basis for preparation and presentation of quarterly information 
 (Continued) 
 
For comparison purposes, the amounts of September 30, 2011 were adjusted as 
follows: 
 


Adjustment description 


Effects on 
statements of 


operations 
 


Effects on net 
equity 


 
Reversal of deferred income tax and social contribution 


asset (a) (5,484) (5,484) 
 
Reversal of issuance costs to equity (b) 1,836 - 


 
(3,648) (5,484) 


 


(a) Until September 2011, the Company recorded benefits of income tax and social contribution. 
However, chose to reverse them in the fourth trimester, setting as accounting policy that such 
benefits will be recorded only when the mineral resources are proven. For comparison purposes, 
the balances of September 30, 2011 were adjusted by that amount. 


 
(b) Until September 2011, the Company incurred in R$ 1,836 for expenses related to fundraising by 


issuing shares, and such expenditure were incorrectly recorded in losses for the period. For 
comparison purposes, these expenses were reclassified to net equity as a reduction of the 
captation. 


 
Company management authorized the conclusion of this quarterly financial 
information on October 26, 2012. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting practices 
 
The interim financial information is presented based on the same accounting policies 
described in the Note 3 of the audited financial statements of December 31, 2011, 
complemented by the following accounting practice.  
 
3.1. Prepaid expenses 


 
The costs related to capital capitation will be transferred to equity, net of taxes, 
after the funding has been completed. 
 
In the event the funding does not materialize, the balance of prepaid expenses 
will be posted to the income statement. 
 


Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions  
 
Judgments, estimates and assumptions are used to measure and recognize certain 
assets and liabilities in the Company’s quarterly financial information. The 
determination of these estimates takes into consideration past, current and 
presupposed future events in addition to other objective or subjective factors. 
 
Significant items subject to estimates that were considered or that shall affect the 
Company after production begins include: the selection of useful lives of property, 
plant and equipment; the estimate of reserves used in the depreciation calculation by 
the units produced method; evaluation of the recoverability of cash generating units; 
analysis of the recoverability of property, plant and equipment; deferred income and 
social contribution taxes; the provision for contingencies, among others. 
 
The settlement of transactions may result in different estimate values in the quarterly 
financial information due to uncertainties inherent in the estimate process. The 
Company reviews its estimates and assumptions on an annual basis at minimum. 


. 
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4. Business combination 
 
On June 8, 2011, the Company acquired all shares of MOPI and MOES, which are 
the holders of certain mining rights and have compiled studies and surveys into the 
extraction of iron ore. 
 
A summary of acquisitions is as follows:  
 


MOPI MOES Total 
Book values of assets acquired and liabilities 


assumed   
Cash 2 2 4 
Intangible assets  30,658 7,813 38,471 
Accounts payable  (30,652) (7,811) (38,463) 


Net assets acquired at book value 8 4 12 
Excess paid, allocated to intangible assets 


acquired (a) 491,427 55,441 546,868 
Consideration transferred (b) 491,435 55,445 546,880 
 
(a)  The intangible assets acquired are represented by prospecting rights and existing mineral reserves held by the 


acquired entities. Fair value measurement was carried out by a specialist through estimated discounted cash 
flows relating to mining reserves.  The acquired companies had recorded R$ 38,471 on their balance sheets 
relating to prospecting rights and capitalized costs. According to management evaluation the total fair value of 
intangible assets was approximately R$ 585 million.  Accordingly, all the excess paid was allocated to intangible 
assets. 


 
(b) The consideration transferred was fully paid in cash on the acquisition date June 8, 2011.  


 
 
5. Cash and cash equivalents 


 


 
 Company  Consolidated 


 
 9/30/2012 


 
12/31/2011  9/30/2012  12/31/2011 


      
Cash and banks 56 415  56  415 
Short-term investments       


Bank Deposit Certificates (CDBs) 66,712 95,903  66,712  95,903 
Debentures with repurchase clauses 46,081 96,588  46,081  96,588 


112,849 192,906  112,849  192,906 
 
Earnings of cash equivalents are linked to the Interbank Deposit Certificates (CDI), 
generating average remuneration of 101.10% of CDI, of a highly liquid nature 
(redeemable within 3 months from the acquisition date), low credit risk, and available 
for use in the Company’s and its subsidiaries operations. 
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5. Cash and cash equivalents (Continued) 
 
Investment in allocated CDBs and debentures is as follows: 
 


      9/30/2012  12/31/2011 


Note Issuer  
Beginning of 


operation  
Maturity of 
operation  Index CDI  


Company and 
Consolidated  


Company and 
Consolidated 


         
CDB Bradesco  3/26/2012  3/17/2014  100.0%  410  - 
CDB Itaú BBA  6/8/2011  5/29/2013  101.6%  34,494  42,642 
CDB Banco do Brasil  6/8/2011  5/29/2013  100.6%  31,808  53,261 


Debentures  Itaú BBA  6/8/2011  5/29/2013  101.0%  -  54,627 
Debentures Itaú BBA  9/24/2012  10/24/2012  80.0%  1,306  - 
Debentures Bradesco  6/8/2011  5/29/2013  101.7%  44,775  41,961 


         
      112,793  192,491 


 
Although the maturities exceed 90 days, the banks guarantee the buyback of these 
securities with no loss in value at any moment  Management requires. 


 
 
6. Investments in subsidiaries (Company) 


 
Investment in subsidiaries MOPI and MOES were acquired on June 8, 2011, as 
mentioned in Note 4. On that date the Company increased capital of investees by 
R$ 30,653 and R$ 7,811, respectively. The funds were fully utilized to pay debts in 
the same amount. 


 
Changes in investments in the period were as follows:  
 


12/31/2011 
Capital 


increase  


Equity pickup/ 
provision for 


losses on 
investments 9/30/2012 


     
Investments    


MOPI   30,651 9,658  (226) 40,083 
MOES   7,810    1,365  (32) 9,143 
Manabi Log  - 6,596  (121) 6,475 


     
Excess paid on acquisition of:        


MOPI   491,427 -  - 491,427 
MOES   55,441 -  - 55,441 


    585,329 17,619  (379) 602,569 
Provision for losses on investments       


Manabi Log   (62) -  62 - 
Equity pickup and provision for losses on 


investments 
 


  (317) 
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6. Investments in subsidiaries (Company) (Continued) 


 
Other investment information - September 30, 2012 
 
   MOPI  MOES  Manabi Log 
  


   Number of shares (common)  4,031,860 782,820 659,600 
Interest held  100% 100% 100% 
Equity  40,083  9,143  6,475 
 
Until September 30, 2012, the Company remitted funds to subsidiaries MOPI, MOES 
and Manabi Log, amounting to R$ 26,205, R$ 2,823 and R$ 18,496, respectively, for 
acquisition of land on the coast of Espírito Santo, drilling, environmental studies and 
surveys, registration, assessment, negotiation and document regulation of project 
areas. These funds are classified as advances for future capital increase, and 
capitalization should occur within one year. 
 
On April 30, 2012, the Company increased capital in its subsidiaries according to the 
amounts stated above. 
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7. Property and equipment 
 
Company balances  
 
 


 Company 


 
 9/30/2012 


 
12/31/2011 


   Cost 
 
Depreciation


 
Net amount 


 
Cost 


 
Depreciation 


 
Net amount 


  
Machinery and equipment 15  (1)  14 


 
14 - 14 


Furniture and fixtures 614  (59)  555 
 


602 (13) 589 
IT equipment 218  (40)  178 


 
163 (11) 152 


Communication equipment 86  (12)  74 
 


59 (3) 56 
Software 458  (51)  407 


 
110 (2) 108 


Leasehold improvements 688  (116)  572 
 


674 - 674 
2,079  (279)  1,800 


 
1,622 (29) 1,593 


 
Changes in company balances  
 
   Company 


  
Depreciation 


rate  12/31/2011  Acquisitions  Depreciation 9/30/2012 
         
Machinery and equipment  10% 14 1 (1) 14 
Furniture and fixtures  10% 589 12 (46) 555 
IT equipment  20% 152 55 (29) 178 
Communication equipment  20% 56 27 (9) 74 
Software   20% 108 348 (49) 407 
Leasehold improvements  22%  674  14 (116) 572 
    1,593  457 (250) 1,800 
 


 
Consolidated balances  
 
 


 Consolidated 


 
 9/30/2012 


 
12/31/2011 


   Cost 
 
Depreciation


 
Net amount  


 
Cost 


 
Depreciation 


 
Net amount  


  
Land 28,193  -  28,193 


 
5,523 - 5,523 


Construction in progress 4,510  -  5,122 
 


522 - 522 
Machinery and equipment 15  (1)  14 


 
14 - 14 


Furniture and fixtures 621  (59)  562 
 


602 (13) 589 
IT equipment 220  (40)  180 


 
163 (11) 152 


Communication equipment 86  (12)  74 
 


59 (3) 56 
Software 458  (51)  407 


 
110 (2) 108 


Leasehold improvements 1,300  (116)  572 
 


674 - 674 
35,403  (279)  35,124 


 
7,667 (29) 7,638 
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7. Property and equipment (Continued) 
 
Changes in consolidated balances  
 
   Consolidated 


  
Depreciation 


rate 
 


12/31/2011  Acquisitions  Depreciation 9/30/2012 
          
Land  -    5,523  22,670 - 28,193 
Construction in progress  -  522  3,988 - 4,510 
Machinery and equipment  10%  14  1 (1) 14 
Furniture and fixtures  10%  589  19 (46) 562 
IT equipment  20%  152  57 (29) 180 
Communication equipment  20%  56  27 (9) 74 
Software  20%  108  348 (49) 407 
Leasehold improvements  22%  674  626 (116) 1,184 
    7,638  27,736 (250) 35,124 
 
 
On September 14, 2011, through subsidiary Manabi Log, the Company acquired land 
measuring 3,390,034 m2 (three million, three hundred and ninety thousand and thirty-
four square meters), located in Degredo - Suruaca, Regência district on the coast of 
Espírito Santo State.  The acquisition price for the land, in accordance with the terms 
of the purchase option agreement, was R$ 5,320, fixed and non-adjustable.   
 
On March 26, 2012, also through subsidiary Manabi Log, the Company acquired land 
measuring 6,618,430 m2 (six million, six hundred and eighteen thousand, four 
hundred and thirty square meters) located in the same location. The land price, fixed 
and non-adjustable, in accordance with the agreement for real estate purchase and 
sale commitment and assignment of ownership rights, was R$ 15,300.   
 
For both acquisitions, there are areas of assignment of ownership rights commitments 
of 430,706 m2 (four hundred thirty thousand, seven hundred and six square meters) 
and 985,500 m2 (nine hundred eighty-five thousand five hundred square meters), 
respectively. 
 
The acquisitions described above are part of the Company’s strategy to develop the 
project’s logistics, which includes transport of mining products and the development 
of a private port terminal to export, handling and storage of iron ore provided by 
MOPI, as well as other cargos that might be required by the Brazil’s National Maritime 
Transport Regulatory Agency (ANTAQ), under applicable legislation. 


  







 
Manabi S.A. 
 
Unaudited notes to quarterly financial information (Continued) 
September 30, 2012 
(In thousands of reais, except when indicated otherwise) 
 
 


20 


7. Property and equipment (Continued) 
 
In November 2011, the construction of the port terminal was started. Costs incurred 
up to September 30, 2012, amounting to R$ 4,510, regarding the environmental 
licensing process, oceanographic studies and a bathymetric study and the beginning 
of the port’s conceptual engineering project, were fully capitalized to property and 
equipment. 


 
 
8. Intangible assets (Consolidated) 


 
Intangible assets were acquired mainly through business combinations on June 8, 
2011, represented by prospecting rights and existing mineral reserves of subsidiaries 
MOPI and MOES. 
 
Intangible assets are represented by more than 65 mining rights, related reserves and 
exploratory costs. These mining rights are located in the State of Minas Gerais, which 
are basically in the research authorization, request for authorization or in availability 
process, and capitalized costs corresponding to the development of the mines, as 
follows: 
 


 Consolidated 
 12/31/2011 


 
Additions 9/30/2012 


   
Research / development expenditures and 


prospecting rights  44,285  30,851 75,136 
Intangible assets acquired in business combination 


(Note 4)  546,868  - 546,868 


 
 591,153  30,851 622,004 


 
The Company is making the necessary actions for the total transfer of the ownership 
of the acquired mining rights with the regulatory agency. 
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9. Income and social contribution taxes 
 
At September 30, 2012, the Company’s accumulated tax loss carryforward and 
negative basis of social contribution amounted to R$ 40,377 (R$ 19,107 at December 
31, 2011), on which management decided not to record deferred income and social 
contribution asset in this prospecting phase. 
 
Tax loss carryforwards generated in Brazil do not expire and are offset against future 
taxable profit, limited however to 30% of taxable profit of each year. 


 
 
10. Transactions with related parties 


 
The Company is currently in the exploration and evaluation of mineral resources 
phase and has no operational transactions with related parties. 
 
Remuneration of key management personnel 
 
The Company considers all current officers key management personnel. In the period 
ended September 30, 2012, the remuneration of these directors totaled R$ 4,891, 
referring to salaries, fees and social charges. Management fees were approved in the 
General Shareholder’s Meeting in an overall amount of R$ 5,100 for 2012. 
 
Share-based payment (stock options) 
 
The Company’s shareholders approved in the General Shareholder’s Meeting held on 
July 21, 2011 the adoption of a stock option plan for directors, officers and 
employees. The stock options issued by the Company will be settled with the 
issuance of new shares. 
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10. Transactions with related parties (Continued) 
 
Share-based payment (stock options) (Continued) 
 
At September 30, 2012, a total of 22,590 (twenty-two thousand, five hundred and 
ninety) shares were granted, through individual agreement between the Company 
and each beneficiary. To acquire the purchase option right, the beneficiary should 
have been with the Company at least three years (vesting period). The options, in the 
proportion of one third of the total shares available for the plan, may be exercised in 
three annual installments, the first after 12 months of the granting date and the 
remaining ones, observing the same conditions, within 24 and 36 months therefrom.  
The participants have a maximum of sixty months, as from the end of the vesting 
period, to exercise the options. 
 
The option strike price is R$1,576 (one thousand, five hundred and seventy-six reais) 
per registered share and must remain the same until the effective option exercise 
date, liable to corrections in the event of stock or reverse splits. As the Company has 
not paid dividends to date, the valuation of these options assumes no payment of 
dividends in the fair value measurement. 
 
Stock options were measured and recognized at fair value, based on the Merton 
model (1973). 
 
The table below presents the result of the calculation of fair value of options restated 
to the date of this quarterly information: 
 


Plan  Grant date 
Initial maturity 


date Maturity date  
Number of 


shares 
 
 


Annual 
volatility 


 
 Risk free rate 


 
 Dilution factor 


 
 


Fair value of 
options 


         
2011.1  10/15/2011 10/15/2012 10/15/2017 4,730  40.41%  11.35%  99.41%  4,285 
2011.1  10/15/2011 10/15/2012 10/15/2018 4,730  39.47%  11.35%  98.82%  4,561 
2011.1  10/15/2011 10/15/2012 10/15/2019 4,730  38.95%  11.34%  98.23%  4,812 


Total 12/31/2011    14,190     13,658 
Amendments  1/2/2012 10/15/2012 10/15/2017 500  40.86%  11.00%  99.24%  442 
Amendments  1/2/2012 10/15/2012 10/15/2018 500  39.58%  11.04%  98.33%  469 
Amendments  1/2/2012 10/15/2012 10/15/2019 500  38.98%  11.06%  97.44%  495 
2012.1  1/2/2012 10/15/2012 10/15/2017 900  40.86%  11.00%  99.24%  795 
2012.1  1/2/2012 10/15/2012 10/15/2018 900  39.58%  11.04%  98.33%  844 
2012.1  1/2/2012 10/15/2012 10/15/2019 900  38.98%  11.06%  97.44%  890 
2012.2  1/2/2012 12/1/2012 12/1/2017 300  40.67%  10.99%  99.20%  267 
2012.2  1/2/2012 12/1/2012 12/1/2018 300  39.51%  11.05%  98.30%  284 
2012.2  1/2/2012 12/1/2012 12/1/2019 300  38.95%  11.06%  97.41%  299 
2012.3  2/1/2012 1/15/2013 1/15/2018 1,000  40.55%  11.04%  99.08%  892 
2012.3  2/1/2012 1/15/2013 1/15/2019 1,000  39.47%  11.19%  98.18%  951 
2012.3  2/1/2012 1/15/2013 1/15/2020 1,000  38.80%  11.23%  97.29%  1,001 
2012.4  1/13/2012 1/13/2013 1/13/2018 100  40.47%  11.23%  99.20%  90 
2012.4  1/13/2012 1/13/2013 1/13/2019 100  39.41%  11.31%  98.28%  96 
2012.4  1/13/2012 1/13/2013 1/13/2020 100  38.88%  11.32%  97.37%  101 


Total for the period    8,400     7,916 
Total 9/30/2012    22,590     21,574 
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10. Transactions with related parties (Continued) 
 
Share-based payment (stock options) (Continued) 
 
The effects of share-based compensation for purchase of shares, covering all granted 
and outstanding options, on equity and statements of operations for the period, are as 
follows: 
 


 1st program 2nd program 3rd program  


Total recorded in 
statements of 


operations for the 
period  


Total recorded  
in equity 


   
2011 939 - -  939  939 
2012 4,464 2,697 92  5,411  6,350 
2013 4,452 2,762 96  -  - 
2014 3,511 2,422 95  -  - 
2015 - 40 4  -  - 


 13,366 7,921 287   


 
Should the beneficiary withdraw from his position, options not yet exercisable expire, 
with no right to indemnification or compensation, and options already exercisable may 
be exercised in up to 90 days. 
 
If the beneficiary’s employment contract is terminated for cause, all rights that may be 
exercised or that may not still be exercised expire automatically, regardless of notice 
or severance.  
 
 


11. Equity 
 
a) Capital 


 
At September 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, subscribed and paid-in capital is 
represented by 800,000 shares, of which 250,000 are common registered shares 
and 550,000 are preferred class “A” shares without par value as detailed below: 







 
Manabi S.A. 
 
Unaudited notes to quarterly financial information (Continued) 
September 30, 2012 
(In thousands of reais, except when indicated otherwise) 
 
 


24 


11. Equity (Continued) 
 
a) Capital (Continued) 


 
Number of shares 


Shareholders Common 
Preferred  
class “A” Total  % 


  


Fábrica Holding S.A.   150,000 3,000 153,000 19.13% 
Ontário Teachers Pension Plan   - 165,000 165,000 20.63% 
Korea Investment Corporation   - 100,000 100,000 12.50% 
Southeastern Asset Management   - 100,000 100,000 12.50% 
Michael Stephen Vitton   50,000 11,000 61,000 7.63% 
Mathew Todd Goldsmith   50,000 6,000 56,000 7.00% 
Other   - 165,000 165,000 20.63% 
    250,000 550,000 800,000 100.00% 
 
Each common share awards the holder the right to one vote in decisions made in 
General Meetings, and each preferred share entitles its holder to such number of 
votes in General Meetings as the number of common shares as the preferred 
shares are convertible into, in either case in accordance with and subject to the 
terms of the Shareholders’ Agreement. 
 
The Special Meeting held on September 10, 2012 approved the introduction of 
new preferred class “B” shares with no capital increase, and existing preferred 
shares were reclassified as preferred class “A” shares. Preferred class “B” shares 
will be similar to preferred class “A” shares, in accordance with the Shareholders 
Agreement. 
 


b) Capital reserves 
 
These capital reserves are composed of subscription warrants and stock options 
plan granted. 
 
On June 8, 2011, the Company issued subscription warrants to shareholders 
(i) Fábrica Holding S.A., (ii) Mathew Todd Goldsmith and (iii) Michael Stephen 
Vitton. These warrants grant the holders the option to subscribe, maximum, the 
total of 44,854 shares for R$0.01 (one cent) in accordance with the terms and 
conditions provided for in the subscription warrant certificate, added at the 
Special Meeting on September 10, 2012, which shall be exercisable, in whole or 
in part, at the holder’s discretion, upon occurrence of the events defined in the 
agreement (“execution events”).  
 
Fabrica Holding S.A. has the right to subscribe 60% of these shares and the 
other two shareholders, 20% each.  
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11. Equity (Continued) 
 
b) Capital reserves (Continued) 


 
No exercise events occurred until September 30, 2012 and are not under the 
control of the option holders. As such, these options do not lead to impacts on the 
quarterly information.   


 
c) Legal reserve and dividends  


 
The legal reserve is set up on an annual basis at 5% of net income for the year, 
not exceeding 20% of capital, and is intended to ensure the integrity of capital, to 
be used only to offset losses or increase capital. 
 
According to the articles of incorporation, mandatory minimum dividend is of 
0.0001% of net income for the year, adjusted under the Corporation Law, limited 
to net income for the year that has been realized, to be submitted for approval at 
General Shareholder’s Meeting. Mandatory minimum dividends are recognized 
as liabilities in the financial statements at the year end, and any exceeding 
amount is only recorded on the date of approval at the General Shareholder’s 
Meeting. 
 


d) Earnings (loss) per share  
 
The table below shows the share information used to calculate basic and diluted 
earnings (loss) per share: 
 


 


Three-month period ended 
9/30/2012 


 
Common 


 


Preferred  
class “A” 


 
Total 


  
     Loss attributable to shareholders  (5,005)  (11,011)  (16,016) 


Weighted average number of outstanding 
shares  250,000  550,000  800,000 


Loss per share - basic and diluted - R$ (*)  (20.02)  (20.02)  - 
 
(*) Loss for the period does not have a diluted impact on holders of share options and subscription warrants. 
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11. Equity (Continued) 
 


d) Earnings (loss) per share (Continued) 
 


  


Three-month period ended 
9/30/2011 


  
Common  Preferred 


 
Total 


   
Earnings attributable to shareholders  789  1,735  2,524 
Weighted average number of outstanding 


shares 250,000  550,000 800,000 
Earnings per share - basic and diluted - R$ 3.16  3.16 - 


 


 


Nine-month period ended 
9/30/2012 


 
Common 


 


Preferred  
class “A” 


 
Total 


  
     Loss attributable to shareholders  (9,297)  (20,455)  (29,752) 


Weighted average number of outstanding 
shares 250,000  550,000  800,000 


Loss per share - basic and diluted - R$ (*)  (37.19)  (37.19)  - 
 
(*) Loss for the period does not have a diluted impact on holders of share options and subscription warrants. 
 


  


From 3/10/2011 (date of Company’s 
incorporation) to 9/30/2011 


  
Common  Preferred 


 
Total 


   
Earnings attributable to shareholders  991  2,414  3,405 
Weighted average number of outstanding 


shares  139,975  340,951 480,926 
Earnings per share - basic and diluted - R$ 7.08  7.08 - 


 
 
12. Financial instruments  


 
At September 30, 2012, financial assets are represented by cash and cash 
equivalents, in the amount of R$ 112,854 (R$ 192,906 at December 31, 2011), 
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
Financial liabilities are represented by trade accounts payable and accounts payable 
in the amounts of R$ 8,166 (R$ 341 at December 31, 2011), Company, and 
R$12,326 (R$ 3,136 at December 31, 2011), Consolidated, recorded at amortized 
cost.  Trade accounts payable mature, on average, in 30 days and, therefore, there  
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12. Financial instruments (Continued) 
 
are no differences between book values and fair values. 
 
The Company does not carry out hedge, swap or any other operations that involve 
derivative financial instruments. 
 
The Company holds its funds with various highly liquid financial institutions and 
adopts the policy of limiting exposure in each institution. 


 
 
13. Insurance coverage  


 
At the Board of Directors’ meeting held on June 28, 2011, approval was given to the 
proposal presented by management based on a sales proposal from insurer Chartis 
Seguros Brasil S.A., for an insurance policy for Directors and Officers Civil Liability 
Insurance at an insured amount of US$ 25,000 and an annual premium of 
approximately US$ 116.  
 
The insurance policy was renewed on July 4, 2012 for a total sum insured of 
R$50,000 and annual premium of R$ 146. The insurance policy aims at 
compensating third parties for losses caused by the insured person as a result of a 
claim.  
 
At an opportune moment the Board may discuss the expansion of coverage of this 
policy and/or increase in the total amount insured. 
 





